


WHILE WE’RE LEADERS IN  OUR INDUSTRY,WHILE  WE ARE THE LEADER IN  OUR INDUSTRY…



NUMBER ONE IN  DISTRIBUTION

$1.4  B ILL ION IN  SALES / 192 LOCATIONS

NUMBER TWO IN  CEIL INGS

FIRST IN  CEIL ING GRID /  SECOND IN  CEIL ING T ILE

NUMBER ONE IN  GYPSUM

LOWEST-COST PRODUCER / PREFERRED BRANDS



WE STILL  HAVE A  LOT TO DO.





Business Overview

Businesses

Products and Services

Best-Known Brand Names

Leadership Position

Geographical Areas Served

Customers

Gypsum

United States Gypsum Company 

CGC Inc.

USG Mexico S.A. de C.V.

Manufactures and markets gypsum

wallboard, joint treatments and 

textures, cement board, gypsum fiber

panels, plaster, water-managed 

exterior systems, shaft wall systems 

and industrial gypsum products

SHEETROCK gypsum panels, SHEETROCK

joint compound, DUROCK cement

board, FIBEROCK gypsum fiber panels,

HYDROCAL gypsum cement, IMPERIAL

and DIAMOND building plasters

World’s largest producer of gypsum

wallboard, ready-mixed joint 

compounds, fiberglass-reinforced

cement board

United States, Canada, Mexico

purchasers: specialty drywall centers,

distributors, hardware cooperatives,

buying groups, home centers, mass

merchandisers

influencers: architects, specifiers,

building owners

end users: contractors, builders,

do-it-yourselfers

Distribution

L&W Supply Corporation

Specializes in delivering 

construction materials to job sites

United States’ largest specialty 

distributor of gypsum wallboard

United States

purchasers and end users:

contractors, builders

Ceilings

USG Interiors, Inc.

USG International

CGC Inc.

Manufactures and markets acoustical

ceiling tiles, ceiling suspension grid,

specialty ceilings, relocatable wall 

systems and other building products 

for U.S. and international markets

AURATONE and ACOUSTONE ceiling tile;

DONN DX, FINELINE and CENTRICITEE

ceiling grid; COMPÄSSO suspension

trim; CURVATURA 3-D ceiling system;

ULTRAWALL relocatable wall systems

World’s largest producer of ceiling 

suspension grid; world’s second-largest

producer of ceiling tile

More than 125 countries in all parts 

of the world: North, Central and South

America, the Caribbean, Europe, the

Middle East, Asia, the Pacific Rim, Africa

purchasers: specialty acoustical 

centers, distributors, hardware cooper-

atives, home centers, contractors

influencers: architects, specifiers,

interior designers, building owners,

tenants, facility managers

end users: contractors, builders,

do-it-yourselfers
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Financial Summary

Years ended December 31

dollars in millions, except per share data 2000 1999

Net sales $3,781 $3,810

Cost of products sold 2,941 2,742

Selling and administrative expenses 309 338

Provision for asbestos claims(a) 850 –

Provision for restructuring expenses(b) 50 –

Operating profit (loss) (369) 730

Net earnings (loss) (259) 421

Earnings (loss) per share (diluted) (5.62) 8.39

Cash dividends per share 0.60 0.45

Total assets (at 12/31) 3,214 2,794

Stockholders’ equity (at 12/31) 464 867

Common shares outstanding (000s at 12/31) 43,401 48,860

(a) Reflects a noncash charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2000 to cover estimated costs (in excess of the Corporation’s existing reserve) of settling asbestos claims currently
pending against United States Gypsum Company as well as future asbestos claims expected to be filed against the company through 2003. On an after-tax basis, this charge
reduced net earnings by $524 million, or $11.39 per share.

(b) Reflects a charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2000 related to a restructuring plan that included a salaried workforce reduction and the shutdown of three gypsum wallboard
manufacturing lines and other operations. On an after-tax basis, this charge reduced net earnings by $31 million, or $0.66 per share.
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USG enjoys tremendous strengths, including leading brands, low-cost

production, significant liquidity and exceptional people. They are vital to

our ability to weather the conditions we face today.

In ordinary circumstances, we’d call 2000 a year of accomplishment. We

posted the second highest sales in our history. Record shipments of our

major product lines rolled from new, low-cost production facilities. We

increased our share of our markets. We repurchased 5.7 million shares

of our stock. We improved our ability to serve a changing marketplace.

But the circumstances are far from ordinary. Almost overnight, the

wallboard industry swung from unmet demand to excess supply, just

as energy and raw material costs started to climb. Wallboard prices

that reached $166 per thousand square feet in December 1999 fell to

$94 per thousand square feet by December 2000. Energy costs more

than doubled in the fourth quarter alone. At the same time, a wave of

asbestos litigation rose to threaten the future of our company. To help

manage the uncertainty surrounding the asbestos issue, we took a

year-end charge of $850 mil l ion to increase reserves for sett l ing

asbestos claims filed through 2003. We also recorded a $54 million

charge for improving our efficiency and streamlining our operations.

Together, these events kept us from achieving a sixth straight year of

record earnings growth. While net sales of $3.78 billion nearly equaled

the record $3.81 billion we reported in 1999, our net earnings declined

dramatically. Excluding the special charges, net earnings fell to $298

million, or $6.49 per fully diluted share. After the charges, we recorded

a loss for the year of $259 million, or $5.62 per fully diluted share.

We are disappointed to report results like these, to say the least,

although there is some consolation in the fact that, operationally, we

continued to outperform others in the industry. But the key question

now is what are we doing to respond to these challenging conditions?

How will we regain our momentum? 

We’ll adapt.

We’ll change.

We’ll perform.



▼ WCF
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Adapt

First, we must do everything we can to resolve the asbestos litigation

crisis and manage our asbestos liability costs.

USG never mined, made or sold raw asbestos. But we did use it as a

minor ingredient — typically less than five percent — in some of our

plasters and joint compounds. And we have long supported efforts to

fairly compensate people whose health was affected by those products.

It hasn’t been easy. When it comes to dealing with asbestos litigation,

the U.S. legal system has clearly broken down. Courts are inundated with

asbestos exposure claims, the vast majority of which have been submit-

ted on behalf of people who show no signs of impairment.

The weight of this litigation has dragged more than two dozen compa-

nies into bankruptcy. We are fighting to avoid that fate. Yet each new

bankruptcy leaves fewer companies to shoulder the burden. Our balance

sheet and the loans that banks have committed to make us provide

significant l iquidity. But while we are equipped to manage our own

liability, we cannot take on the responsibility for the entire industry.

We agree with the Supreme Court that resolving the issue calls for

national legislation, and we have joined efforts to craft a solution that

will keep the asbestos litigation crisis from becoming a disaster.

In the meantime, our $850 million pretax asbestos charge covers the

costs we expect to incur for asbestos claims filed in the next three

years. It does not close the door on the issue, but it will bring a higher

degree of certainty to our financial performance as we move forward.

We also must adapt to new conditions in our markets. Throughout our

99-year history, our goal has been to lead at every point in the economic

cycle — trough-to-trough and peak-to-peak. And that is what we are

doing today, by continuing to carry out our strategic plan.

WCF William C. Foote, Chairman, CEO and President

RHF Richard H. Fleming, Executive Vice President and CFO

JSM James S. Metcalf, Senior Vice President; President and CEO, L&W Supply



▲ RHF
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Our leadership begins with the industry’s most advanced production

facilities. Over the past five years, we invested in excess of $1 billion,

primarily to build new production facilities and improve our operations.

It was the right strategy. We had to expand to meet our customers’

needs or risk losing them as customers. And it was increasingly expen-

sive to run our existing plants, some which dated back to the 1930s.

In 2000, we began to reap the benefits of our investments. With 3.3 billion

square feet of new, low-cost wallboard production capacity, we are better

able to remain profitable in a time of falling prices. Advanced production

technologies also help cushion the impact of rising energy costs.

Now, we’re turning our attention to strengthening our cash f low.

Anticipating continued softness in the wallboard market, we cut our

capital expenditures by five percent during the second half of the year

and reduced them even more as we entered 2001. Our $54 million

restructuring plan closed three high-cost production lines and elimi-

nated over 500 jobs, out of a total of 4,400 salaried positions. We have

now closed six wallboard production lines since 1999 — a total of

approximately 1.5 billion square feet of high-cost capacity, or almost 

50 percent more than originally planned. We also have reduced our

quarterly dividend to shareholders. Actions like these are never easy,

but together, they will strengthen our cash flow by approximately $50

million each year.

We will devote even more attention to satisfying our customers. Because

we are the preferred wallboard brand, we gain market share in times of

free supply, and that is happening again. But we aren’t taking anything

for granted. Our customers’ needs and expectations are changing, and

we are changing along with them.

EMB Edward M. Bosowski, Senior Vice President; President, International

JHM John H. Meister, Senior Vice President; President, Building Systems

MSK Marcia S. Kaminsky, Vice President, Communications



▼ JHM



▲ MSK
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Change

One of the most significant changes is the convergence of our wallboard

and ceilings customers. Close to three-quarters of our customers now

sell both of our major product lines. We’re positioning ourselves to pro-

vide them with comprehensive, convenient and cost effective service.

New products and services are helping us meet the demand for greater

value and improved performance. In January 2000, we reinvented our

largest product l ine with the introduction of U.S. Gypsum’s “Next

Generation” SHEETROCK brand gypsum panels that offer cleaner scoring

and snapping, improved durability and faster installation. U.S. Gypsum

also introduced a new family of FIBEROCK sheathing products that is

rapidly winning a place in the market. USG Interiors’ ceiling products,

including CURVATURA EL ITE curved grid, allow architects greater 

creativity and flexibility in their designs. Meanwhile, Design Wizard, a

new one-of-a-kind web-based design tool, enables specifiers to create,

engineer and print a bill of materials for new ceiling designs.

Our work is unfinished. More challenges lie ahead. In 2001, we expect

little, if any, growth in our markets. Although there are signs that lower

interest rates may give the construction industry a shot in the arm, we

will continue to face tough times until the supply of wallboard comes

back into balance with demand. High energy costs and other inflationary

pressures also are a concern.

Perform

Little is certain in such an environment, except our commitment to lead-

ing our markets — in good times and bad. Our strategic plan provides a

roadmap for remaining the low-cost producer, increasing our market

share and improving our competitiveness. Now, it’s time to perform.

We’ll focus on a limited number of key issues:

Pushing for a fair, comprehensive solution to the asbestos litigation

crisis. Quantifying our projected liability through 2003 does not solve

the fundamental problem of how asbestos cases are handled in the tort

system. Finding a solution that all parties can accept will not be easy,

but the recent bankruptcies of otherwise healthy companies benefit

no one. We will work hard to help shape and win approval for a national

legislative solution.
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Optimizing our new plants. In 2000, we concentrated on completing our

new production facilities. In 2001, we will focus on making the most of

them. As the new facilities have come on-line, we have been fine-tuning

the operations to achieve optimal efficiencies and savings. And because

we produce the preferred product, we expect to run at higher utilization

rates than our competitors.

Managing energy costs, working capital and capital expenditures.

We’ll work harder than ever to manage our energy costs. In fact, as we

entered 2001, we already had purchased more than two-thirds of the

natural gas we will use during the year, to hedge against future increases.

We’ll continue to find new ways to improve the management of our inven-

tory, investments and accounts receivable. We plan to reduce capital

spending significantly during 2001. We will defer all non-essential capital

projects and explore the sale of assets that are not vital to our business.

Satisfying our customers. We are operating in a buyer’s market. So we

must earn our leadership position every day, by providing both excellent

products and superb customer service. The changes we have made to

the company provide the structure and strengths we need to meet our

customers’ evolving needs. Now, we must apply those advantages to

build stronger relationships with our customers and help them grow and

achieve their goals. We want our customers to value USG as much as we

value our customers.

Although the tests we face bring uncertainty and risk, passing through

them will make us stronger and more flexible. And no company in our

industry is better prepared to meet these challenges. We have the right

strategies. Our brands lead their markets. We’re the low-cost producer.

Most of all, we have the people. In difficult times, the men and women

who work at USG have once again proven that they are the best in the

business — always committed to the better way — and they have earned

my gratitude and respect. With their experience, creativity and plain

hard work, we will continue to adapt, change and perform — and return

to the unfinished business of growth.

William C. Foote

Chairman, CEO and President

February 14, 2001
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Overview

2000 was a challenging year for USG Corporation. First, the gypsum

wallboard market in the United States, which represents USG’s largest

single business, transitioned from short supply to excess supply.

Although shipments of USG’s SHEETROCK brand gypsum wallboard set a

new record, selling prices fell significantly during the year because of

excess supply in the market. The lower prices, combined with higher

energy and raw material costs, had an adverse effect on USG’s profit-

ability in 2000.

Second, the number of asbestos claims and related settlement values

continued to increase, and two other major building products companies,

Owens Corning and Armstrong World Industries, Inc., filed Chapter 11

bankruptcies due to asbestos-related liabilities. Based on an independ-

ent study, USG estimated its probable liability for costs associated with

asbestos cases currently pending and expected to be filed through 2003

to be between $889 million and $1,281 million. In the fourth quarter of

2000, USG recorded a noncash, pretax provision of $850 million,

increasing its total reserve for asbestos claims to $1,185 million as of

December 31, 2000.

Third, like the stock prices of several other building products companies,

the price of USG’s common stock declined significantly following the

bankruptcies of Owens Corning and Armstrong World Industries.

Fourth, USG experienced two unfavorable developments in the fourth

quarter that could affect its ability to increase its liquidity in the future.

The two credit rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, down-

graded USG’s corporate debt rating. Standard & Poor’s lowered its rating

to investment grade BBB, while Moody’s dropped its rating to Ba2, two

levels below its minimum investment grade rating. In each case, the

decrease was due to concerns over USG’s increasing asbestos exposure.

Even before these downgrades, the securities markets had steeply dis-

counted securities, both debt and equity, of public companies that are

defendants in asbestos-related litigation. This development came as a

direct response to the Owens Corning bankruptcy filing. As a con-

sequence of these developments, USG expects to find it increasingly

difficult to raise new money in the capital markets so long as the long-

term outcome of its asbestos litigation remains uncertain.

Despite these challenges, 2000 also was a year of accomplishments for

USG, including record shipments for all major product lines, record net

sales for its distribution business, a new $600 million revolving credit

agreement and the completion of three major capital projects. These

accomplishments are discussed in further detail below.

Consolidated Results

Net Sales

Net sales in 2000 totaled $3,781 million, a slight decrease from 1999’s

record level of $3,810 million. Record shipments were achieved for all of

USG’s major product lines in 2000. However, the impact of favorable

demand was offset by lower selling prices on SHEETROCK brand gypsum

wallboard. Comparing 1999 with 1998, net sales increased 14% primarily

due to increased shipments and record selling prices for SHEETROCK

brand gypsum wallboard.

Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold totaled $2,941 million, up 7% versus 1999, reflect-

ing the combination of increased volume and higher energy and raw

material costs. Cost of products sold in 1999 was $2,742 million, up 12%

from 1998 primarily due to increased volume and higher asbestos-

related charges.

In addition to the fourth quarter 2000 provision for asbestos claims, USG

recorded asbestos-related charges to cost of products sold through

September 30, 2000. These charges totaled $77 million during the first

nine months of 2000, $80.5 million in 1999 and $26 million in 1998.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses totaled $309 million in 2000, down

9% from $338 million in 1999. Expenses in 1998 totaled $299 million. As

a percentage of net sales, these expenses improved to 8.2% in 2000

from 8.9% in 1999 and 1998.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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The decrease in expense dollars in 2000 versus 1999 primarily reflected

lower charges for incentive compensation programs and a company-

wide emphasis on reducing expenses. The increase in expense dollars

in 1999 versus 1998 primarily was related to incentive compensation and

information technology initiatives.

Provision for Asbestos Claims

In the fourth quarter of 2000, based on an independent study, USG esti-

mated its probable liability for costs associated with asbestos cases 

currently pending and expected to be filed through 2003 and recorded 

a noncash provision of $850 million pretax ($524 million after-tax).

This provision, combined with the existing asbestos-related reserve of

$335 million, resulted in a total reserve as of December 31, 2000, of

$1,185 million, of which $250 million was classified as a short-term 

liability and $935 million was classified as a long-term liability on the

consolidated balance sheet. See “Legal Contingencies” below and “Note 17.

Litigation” for additional information on asbestos-related matters.

Provision for Restructuring Expenses

In the fourth quarter of 2000, USG recorded a charge of $50 million pretax

($31 million after-tax) related to a restructuring plan that included a

salaried workforce reduction and the shutdown of three, high-cost gyp-

sum wallboard manufacturing lines and other operations. An additional

restructuring-related charge of $4 million pretax ($2 million after-tax)

was included in cost of products sold for the writedown of certain inven-

tory. The restructuring, which will be completed in 2001, is designed to

streamline operations and improve business efficiency.

Included in the $50 million pretax charge was $16 million for severance

related to the salaried workforce reduction of over 500 positions,

$15 million for the write-off of property, plant and equipment, $12 million

for razing buildings and equipment, $5 million for line shutdown and

removal, and $2 million for contract cancellations and severance for

over 100 hourly positions.

Gypsum wallboard manufacturing lines were shut down at United States

Gypsum Company’s plants located at Gypsum, Ohio (closed in December

2000), Oakfield, N.Y. (closed in February 2001) and Fort Dodge, Iowa (closed

in February 2001). Together, these closings eliminated approximately 700

million square feet of old, high-cost capacity. New, low-cost, high-speed

manufacturing lines at East Chicago, Ind., and Aliquippa, Pa., are now serv-

ing the customers of the closed lines. Also, one of the two manufacturing

lines at the Fort Dodge plant continues to operate. Other operations that

were shut down included a mill and ship-loading system at Alabaster, Mich.

Total payments charged against the restructuring reserve in 2000

amounted to $1 million. All restructuring-related payments are being

funded with cash from normal operations. Annual savings from the

restructuring initiatives are estimated at $40 million.

Operating Profit (Loss)

An operating loss of $369 million was recorded in 2000. This loss included

the pretax provisions of $850 million for asbestos claims, $50 million for

restructuring expenses and $4 million for the writedown of certain inven-

tory. Excluding these provisions, operating profit was $535 million, down

27% from $730 million in 1999 primarily due to a lower gross profit 

margin on gypsum wallboard. Operating profit totaled $585 million in 1998.

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained relatively constant over the past three years

at $52 million in 2000 and $53 million in both 1999 and 1998.

Income Taxes (Benefit)

An income tax benefit of $161 million was recorded in 2000 due to 

the net loss resulting from the provisions relating to asbestos claims 

and restructuring. Income tax expense was $263 million in 1999 and

$202 million in 1998. The Corporation’s effective tax rates were 38.4% in

2000 and 1999 and 37.8% in 1998.

Net Earnings (Loss)

A net loss of $259 million, or $5.62 per share, was recorded in 2000.

This loss included the after-tax provisions of $524 million, or $11.39 per

share, for asbestos claims, $31 million, or $0.66 per share, for restruc-

turing expenses and $2 million, or $0.06 per share, for the writedown of

certain inventory. Excluding these provisions, net earnings in 2000 were

$298 million and diluted earnings per share were $6.49. Net earnings

totaled $421 million in 1999 and $332 million in 1998. Diluted earnings

per share were $8.39 in 1999 and $6.61 in 1998.



20

North American Gypsum

Net sales in 2000 were $2,298 million, down 5% from 1999. Operating

profit of $392 million declined 40% from 1999. Net sales and operating

profit in 1999 increased 18% and 22%, respectively, versus 1998.

United States Gypsum Company reported lower net sales in 2000 as

compared with 1999. This decline primarily reflected lower wallboard

selling prices, which more than offset record shipments. Selling prices

on SHEETROCK brand gypsum wallboard declined steadily during 2000,

and by December, prices averaged $93.59 per thousand square feet,

down 44% from the record high of $166.05 in December 1999. This drop

in selling prices resulted from the gypsum wallboard market’s transition

from short supply to excess supply. For the year, the average selling price

of SHEETROCK brand gypsum wallboard was $130.61 per thousand square

feet, down 15% from the average price of $153.40 in 1999. The average

price in 1998 was $129.50. Shipments of SHEETROCK brand gypsum

wallboard totaled 9.29 billion square feet in 2000, up slightly from the

previous record of 9.24 billion square feet in 1999. Shipments in 1998

totaled 8.83 billion square feet. Shipments of SHEETROCK brand joint

compounds and DUROCK brand cement board also set records in 2000.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Core Business Results

Net Sales Operating Profit (Loss)

millions 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998

North American Gypsum

U.S. Gypsum Company $2,119 $2,255 $1,938 $ 336 $597 $494

CGC Inc. (gypsum) 206 183 156 34 27 18

Other subsidiaries 112 108 95 22 27 22

Eliminations (139) (130) (144) – – –

Total 2,298 2,416 2,045 392 651 534 

Worldwide Ceilings

USG Interiors, Inc. 513 487 476 64 60 53 

USG International 232 226 250 3 – 9 

CGC Inc. (ceilings) 43 39 37 3 3 3 

Eliminations (83) (63) (68) – – –

Total 705 689 695 70 63 65 

Building Products Distribution

L&W Supply Corporation 1,373 1,345 1,103 110 87 40 

Corporate – – – (44) (64) (54)

Eliminations (595) (640) (501) 3 (7) –

Provision for asbestos claims* – – – (850) – –

Provision for restructuring expenses – – – (50) – –

Total USG Corporation 3,781 3,810 3,342 (369) 730 585

*Excludes asbestos-related charges totaling $77 million for the first nine months of 2000 recorded by U.S. Gypsum to cost of products sold. Comparable full-year charges in 1999
and 1998 were $80.5 million and $26 million, respectively.
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Operating profit for U.S. Gypsum declined in 2000 due to the lower 

selling prices and higher manufacturing costs for gypsum wallboard.

Costs were up primarily due to rising energy costs and higher prices 

for wastepaper, the primary raw material of wallboard paper. Higher

wastepaper prices also accounted for an increase in manufacturing

costs in 1999 as compared with 1998. U.S. Gypsum’s plants operated at

92% of capacity in 2000, compared with the estimated average rate of

84% for the U.S. wallboard industry.

Asbestos-related charges to U.S. Gypsum’s cost of products sold totaled

$77 million during the first nine months of 2000, compared with full-year

charges of $80.5 million in 1999 and $26 million in 1998.

The gypsum business of Canada-based CGC Inc. experienced improved

net sales and operating profit in each of the past two years. Net sales

increased 13% in 2000 to $206 million, a new record. This followed a

17% increase in 1999. Operating profit rose 26% in 2000 and 50% in

1999 as compared with the respective prior years. These trends were

primarily attributable to higher selling prices on CGC’s SHEETROCK brand

gypsum wallboard.

Worldwide Ceilings

Net sales in 2000 were $705 million, up 2% versus 1999, while operat-

ing profit of $70 million increased 11%. USG’s domestic ceilings busi-

ness, USG Interiors, Inc., reported record net sales of $513 million, while

operating profit of $64 million rose 7% over 1999. Domestic shipments

of ceiling grid and AURATONE brand ceiling tile were at record levels.

USG International reported a 3% increase in net sales, primarily due to

increased sales in Europe, and recorded an operating profit of $3 million

in 2000 versus breakeven results in 1999. The ceilings division of CGC

contributed $3 million in operating profit, the same as last year.

Comparing 1999 with 1998, net sales decreased slightly to $689 million

from $695 million. Operating profit in 1999 was $63 million, compared

with $65 million in 1998. These declines were primarily attributable to

weak economic conditions in Eastern Europe and the Asia Pacific region.

However, USG Interiors experienced increased net sales and operating

profit, increased domestic shipments of ceiling grid and solid demand

for ceiling tile products. These improvements were attributable to

increased opportunity from the U.S. nonresidential construction market

(both new construction and renovation). Operating profit in 1999 for USG

Interiors also benefited from reduced manufacturing costs.

Building Products Distribution

L&W Supply Corporation, the leading specialty building products dis-

tribution business in the United States, reported record net sales of 

$1,373 million in 2000, an increase of 2% versus 1999. Operating profit

of $110 million, also a record, represented a 26% increase over the prior

year. These results were driven by record shipments of gypsum 

wallboard and strong sales of complementary building products. As of

December 31, 2000, L&W Supply operated out of 192 locations in the

United States, distributing a variety of gypsum, ceilings and related

building materials. Net sales and operating profit in 1999 increased 22%

and 118%, respectively, versus 1998.

Market Conditions and Outlook

Industry shipments of wallboard in the United States were an estimated

29.3 billion square feet in 2000, a 6% decrease from 1999. This decrease

reflected softening demand from new residential construction and a

slowdown in repair and remodel growth.

Based on preliminary data issued by the U.S. Bureau of the Census, U.S.

housing starts in 2000 were an estimated 1.592 million units, down 4%

versus 1.667 million units in 1999. Housing starts totaled 1.617 million

units in 1998.

The repair and remodel market has been the fastest growing segment

for USG, accounting for the second-largest portion of its sales. Record

sales in 1999 of existing homes of 5.197 million units supported residen-

tial repair and remodeling in 2000. This, combined with strong nonresi-

dential repair and remodeling, provided solid opportunity in this market

segment. However, opportunity from this market in 2001 is expected to

decline as sales of existing homes in 2000 were 5.030 million units,

down 3% from 1999. Lease rates, government spending and other fac-

tors should support continued renovation of nonresidential space, such

as offices and schools.
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Sales of USG products to the new nonresidential construction market

were solid in 2000. Future demand for USG products from new nonresi-

dential construction is determined by floor space for which contracts are

signed. Installation of gypsum and ceilings products follows signing of

construction contracts by about a year. Floor space for which contracts

were signed was down 1% in 2000, following a 2% rise in 1999.

The U.S. market for gypsum wallboard transitioned from short supply, as

experienced in 1999, to excess supply in 2000. Also, new industry

capacity was added in 2000 by USG and other gypsum wallboard manu-

facturers, and more is being added in 2001. As a result, management

anticipates continued softness in USG’s gypsum wallboard results in

2001. In response to the excess supply conditions, USG closed six wall-

board manufacturing lines over a 16-month period ending in February

2001. These closures eliminated approximately 1.5 billion square feet 

of old, high-cost capacity. Pressure on gypsum wallboard pricing is 

likely to continue until more capacity in the industry is closed and/or

demand increases.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Strategy

During the years 1997 through 2000, USG was focused on building 

long-term stockholder value through the implementation of its strategic

growth plan, dividends and share repurchases.

Strategic Growth Plan: During the past four years, USG made significant

investments in its businesses under five strategies. The first strategy,

“building for growth by adding capacity and lowering production costs,”

is nearly complete with the addition of five new gypsum wallboard man-

ufacturing lines, three of which were completed in 2000. A sixth line,

currently under construction in Monterrey, Mexico, will be completed in

2001. The second strategy, “expanding its building products distribution

business,” is being achieved by increasing the number of L&W Supply

locations from 161 as of December 31, 1996, to 192 as of December 31,

2000. The third strategy, “enhancing customer service,” is being realized

through USG’s centralized customer service center that opened in 1997,

the Genesis automated sales information system that was implemented

in 1999 and through the recent consolidation of USG’s gypsum and ceil-

ings sales and marketing organizations. The fourth strategy, “promoting

its brand names,” is being accomplished through various brand aware-

ness campaigns such as NASCAR sponsorships, television commercials

and the USG “Rock Tour” promotion. Finally, “leading in product innova-

tion” continues to be a USG standard. Recent examples are the 

“Next Generation” of SHEETROCK brand gypsum wallboard and the 

FIBEROCK brand gypsum fiber panel.

Dividends: USG began paying a quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per

share in the fourth quarter of 1998. USG increased the dividend to $0.15

per share in the fourth quarter of 1999 and continued paying quarterly

dividends at that rate through the fourth quarter of 2000. However,

as explained below under “2001 Plan,” USG reduced its quarterly cash

dividend to $0.025 per share in the first quarter of 2001.

Share Repurchases: USG began a share-repurchase program in the

fourth quarter of 1998. Under the program, the Corporation allocated a

percentage of its free cash flow to stock repurchases. This percentage

varied from quarter to quarter depending on the price of USG’s stock, the

level of USG’s cash flow and alternative uses of cash. Share repurchases

were made in the open market or through privately negotiated transac-

tions and were funded with available cash from operations. However,

due to uncertainties related to current business conditions and asbestos

litigation, USG does not anticipate making any further repurchases of

common stock at this time.

Since the program began in the fourth quarter of 1998, USG purchased a

total of 7.3 million shares, completing an initial 5-million-share authori-

zation and purchasing 2.3 million shares of an additional 5-million-share

authorization. Share repurchases by year amounted to 5.7 million shares

in 2000, 1.4 million shares in 1999 and 0.2 million shares in 1998.

2001 Plan: Because of a cyclical downturn in its businesses, rising

energy prices and asbestos litigation, USG’s financial priorities in 2001

will focus on increasing cash flow and optimizing operating perform-

ance. The plan includes reducing capital expenditures, reducing costs

and expenses, improving working capital performance and seeking

opportunities for the sale of surplus assets. In addition, in the first quarter

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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of 2001, USG reduced its quarterly cash dividend to $0.025 per share. This

action will reduce annual dividend payments by approximately $22 million.

Capital Expenditures

Capital spending amounted to $380 million in 2000, compared with 

$426 million in 1999. As of December 31, 2000, remaining capital expen-

diture commitments for the replacement, modernization and expansion

of operations amounted to $58 million, compared with $260 million as of

December 31, 1999.

A substantial portion of the capital spending in 1999 and 2000 related 

to the modernization of USG’s gypsum wallboard capacity. This modern-

ization has enabled USG to replace old capacity with much more efficient

new facilities. The Corporation has completed construction of five new

gypsum wallboard facilities and closed six old, high-cost facilities. The

modernization program includes the construction of new gypsum wall-

board plants located in Bridgeport, Ala. (opened in 1999), Aliquippa, Pa.

(opened in 2000), Rainier, Ore. (opened in 2000), and Monterrey, Mexico

(to be opened in 2001), and construction of new gypsum wallboard man-

ufacturing lines at U.S. Gypsum’s plants in East Chicago, Ind. (started up

in 1999), and Plaster City, Calif. (started up in 2000). The new plant in

Monterrey, Mexico, will allow USG Mexico S.A. de C.V., USG’s wholly

owned subsidiary in Mexico and the Mexican wallboard leader, to

strengthen its position in northern Mexico while freeing existing capac-

ity for southern Mexican markets. With a plant in northern Mexico, USG

Mexico will become Mexico’s first national wallboard manufacturer.

Start-up of the Monterrey facility is anticipated to occur in the third

quarter of 2001.

Closure of old, high-cost capacity included the shutdown of the

Plasterco, Va., plant in 1999 and shutdown of gypsum wallboard manu-

facturing lines at U.S. Gypsum’s plants in East Chicago, Ind., in 1999,

Plaster City, Calif., in 2000, and as part of USG’s fourth quarter 2000

restructuring program, Gypsum, Ohio, in December 2000, Oakfield, N.Y.,

in February 2001 and Fort Dodge, Iowa, in February 2001. One of the two

manufacturing lines at the Fort Dodge plant continues to operate.

USG expects to have limited external sources of capital available and

limited financial resources and liquidity to fund potential future growth

opportunities such as new products, acquisitions and joint ventures.

Working Capital

As of December 31, 2000, current liabilities exceeded current assets by

$20 million. This deficit working capital position included $250 million of

the total asbestos reserve of $1,185 million as a current liability. As 

of December 31, 1999, current assets exceeded current liabilities by

$319 million. The ratio of current assets to current liabilities was .98 to 1 as

of December 31, 2000, compared with 1.50 to 1 as of December 31, 1999.

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2000, amounted to 

$70 million, down from $197 million as of December 31, 1999. During

2000, net cash flows from operating activities totaled $364 million. Net

cash flows to investing activities of $377 million primarily reflected

capital spending of $380 million. Net cash flows to financing activities of

$114 million primarily reflected $207 million used for stock repurchases

and $27 million used for cash dividends, partially offset by a net

increase in borrowings of $118 million plus a currency translation

adjustment of $2 million related to foreign borrowings.

Receivables decreased to $305 million as of December 31, 2000, from

$361 million as of December 31, 1999, primarily due to a lower level 

of net sales in the fourth quarter of 2000 as compared with the fourth

quarter of 1999. Inventories increased to $271 million from $256 million,

and accounts payable rose to $200 million from $172 million. As of

December 31, 2000, $141 million of 9.25% senior notes were classified

as a current liability due to their maturity in 2001.

Debt 

As of December 31, 2000, total debt amounted to $711 million, up 

$118 million from $593 million as of December 31, 1999. This increase

primarily reflects $131 million of industrial revenue bonds recorded in

connection with USG’s capital spending program and $10 million of

credit facility borrowings, partially offset by a repayment of $20 million

on an accounts receivable facility.
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Available Liquidity

As of December 31, 2000, USG had $692 million of liquidity through three

financing arrangements. First, on June 30, 2000, USG entered into an

agreement with a syndicate of banks that includes revolving credit facilities

totaling $600 million. The agreement includes a five-year, multicurrency

revolving credit facility that permits the Corporation to borrow up to

$400 million, including borrowing capacity for its Canadian subsidiaries

of up to $75 million in equivalent Canadian dollars. The agreement also

includes a $200 million, 364-day facility. Second, USG has an accounts

receivable facility that allows the Corporation to borrow up to $130 million.

The maximum amount of debt issuable under the accounts receivable

facility is determined by applicable reserve and eligibility requirements.

As of December 31, 2000, the maximum allowed borrowing was $72 mil-

lion based on these requirements. Third, USG maintains a $20 million

multicurrency facility in Europe. As of December 31, 2000, outstanding

loans on the three arrangements totaled $145 million, and letters of

credit issued and outstanding amounted to $16 million, leaving the

Corporation with $531 million of unused and available credit.

In addition, a shelf registration statement on file with the Securities and

Exchange Commission allows the Corporation to offer, from time to time,

debt securities, shares of preferred and common stock or warrants to

purchase shares of common stock, all having an aggregate initial offering

price not to exceed $300 million. No securities have been issued pursuant

to this registration, and in view of the aforementioned issues involving

asbestos litigation and credit ratings, the Corporation does not currently

expect to raise new money in the public capital markets so long as the

long-term outcome of its asbestos litigation remains uncertain.

Other Matters

Market Risk

In the normal course of business, USG uses financial instruments,

including fixed and variable rate debt, to finance its operations. In addi-

tion, USG uses derivative instruments to manage well-defined commod-

ity price, foreign currency and interest rate exposures. USG does not use

derivative instruments for trading purposes.

Commodity Price Risk: USG uses swap and option agreements to man-

age price exposure on anticipated purchases of natural gas, wastepaper

and fuel. A sensitivity analysis has been prepared to estimate the poten-

tial loss in fair value of such instruments assuming a hypothetical 10%

increase in market prices. The sensitivity analysis includes the under-

lying exposures that are being hedged. Based on results of the

sensitivity analysis, which may differ from actual results, USG’s potential

loss in fair value is $51 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk: The table below summarizes USG’s 

foreign currency hedge forward contracts as of December 31, 2000. The

table presents the notional values (in millions of U.S. dollar equivalents)

and weighted average contract rates. All outstanding foreign currency

hedge contracts mature within 12 months.

Currency Currency Notional Contract
Sold Purchased Value Rate

U.S. Dollars Canadian Dollars $36 $ 1.48

U.S. Dollars Euros 6 0.89

Mexican Pesos U.S. Dollars 5 10.17

British Pounds Euros 4 0.62

Australian Dollars New Zealand Dollars 1 1.29

Interest Rate Risk: The table on page 25 provides information about

USG’s financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest

rates, specifically debt obligations and interest rate swaps. For debt

obligations, the table presents principal cash flows by expected maturity

dates and related weighted average interest rates, except for variable-

rate debt for which cash flows are presented by average variable rates

based on implied forward rates at the reporting date. For interest rate

swaps, the table presents notional amounts and weighted average inter-

est rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. Notional amounts are

used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the

contract. The information is presented in U.S. dollar equivalents, which

is USG’s reporting currency.

See “Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies” and “Note 12. Financial

Instruments and Risk Management” for additional information on USG’s

financial exposures.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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Euro Currency Conversion

Effective January 1, 1999, 11 of the 15 countries that are members of the

European Union introduced a new, single currency unit, the euro. Prior

to full implementation of the new currency for the participating countries

on January 1, 2002, there is a three-year transition period during which

parties may use either the existing currencies or the euro. However, dur-

ing the transition period, all exchanges between currencies of the par-

ticipating countries are required to be first converted through the euro.

USG has proceeded to prepare for the conversion to the euro. USG’s

efforts are focused on two phases. The first phase addresses USG’s

European operations during the transition period. The second phase cov-

ers full conversion of these operations to the euro. USG was ready for

the transition period that began on January 1, 1999, and expects to be

ready for full conversion by January 1, 2002, the mandatory conversion

date. USG also is prepared to deal with its critical suppliers and cus-

tomers during the transition period and has been communicating with

them as necessary. Based on its experience during the first two years of

the transition period, USG does not expect the introduction of the euro

currency to have a material adverse impact on its business, results of

operations or financial position.

Maturity Date

dollars in millions 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total Fair Value

Debt

U.S. Dollar

Fixed rate $141 – – – $150 $260 $551 $404

Average interest rate 9.3% – – – 8.5% 5.9% 6.2%

Variable rate – $4 $25 $46 $ 50 – $125 $108

Average interest rate – 6.4% 6.2% 6.3% 6.7% – 6.4%

Canadian Dollar

Variable rate – – – – $ 29 – $ 29 $ 19

Average interest rate – – – – 6.6% – 6.6%

European Multicurrency Line

Variable rate $ 6 – – – – – $ 6 $ 6

Average interest rate 5.7% – – – – – 5.7%

Interest Rate Swaps

Canadian Dollar

Notional amount $ 27 – – – – – $ 27 –

Average pay rate 5.5% – – – – – 5.5%

Average receive rate 5.9% – – – – – 5.9%
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Legal Contingencies

One of USG Corporation’s subsidiaries, U.S. Gypsum, is a defendant in

asbestos lawsuits alleging both property damage and personal injury.

As stated above, as of December 31, 2000, the Corporation estimated

U.S. Gypsum’s probable liability for costs associated with asbestos cases

currently pending and expected to be filed through 2003 to be between

$889 million and $1,281 million. U.S. Gypsum has reserved $1,185 mil-

lion as the most likely estimate within that range. These amounts are

stated before tax benefit and are not discounted to present value.

In order to establish this reserve, a noncash, pretax charge to results 

of operations of $850 million was taken in the fourth quarter of 2000

and added to existing asbestos-related reserves totaling $335 million 

as of December 31, 2000, which primarily related to pending claims.

U.S. Gypsum had a corresponding receivable from insurance carriers of

$86 million as of December 31, 2000, the estimated portion of the

reserved amount that is expected to be paid or reimbursed by insurance.

The Corporation intends to monitor asbestos costs and trends, and it is

reasonably possible that they may differ from the Corporation’s current

estimates and that any such difference may be material. In addition,

asbestos personal injury claims will continue to be asserted after 2003,

and it is probable that subsequent information will allow the Corporation

to estimate the costs associated with those cases. When such events

occur, additional charges to results of operations will be necessary in

amounts that cannot currently be reasonably estimated, but which are

likely to be material to the period in which they are taken.

U.S. Gypsum’s total asbestos-related payments, net of insurance

recoveries, were $62 million in 2000 and $24 million in 1998. Insurance

payments to U.S. Gypsum for asbestos-related matters exceeded

asbestos-related expenses by $6 million for 1999 due primarily to non-

recurring reimbursement for amounts expended in prior years. In 2001,

asbestos-related costs are currently expected to exceed insurance

recoveries by approximately $215 million.

Recent asbestos costs and charges, combined with declines in operating

results, have adversely affected the Corporation’s access to capital,

results of operations and financial position, but the Corporation currently

believes that it has sufficient cash flow and other capital resources to

meet its obligations and maintain its operations. However, although the

Corporation’s estimate of the cost of the asbestos litigation is based on

the information currently available, the impact of the asbestos litigation

on the Corporation may be affected by numerous factors, including but

not limited to bankruptcies of other defendants, as well as other factors

that may arise in the future. If asbestos-related costs materially exceed

the Corporation’s estimates or its cash flow and capital resources fall

materially below current expectations, it is likely that the asbestos litiga-

tion would have a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s results,

liquidity and financial position.

The Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries have been notified by state

and federal environmental protection agencies of possible involvement

as one of numerous “potentially responsible parties” in a number of 

so-called “Superfund” sites in the United States. The Corporation

believes that neither these matters nor any other known governmental

proceeding regarding environmental matters will have a material

adverse effect upon its results of operations or financial position.

See “Note 17. Litigation” for additional information on asbestos and 

environmental litigation.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2001, USG will adopt Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138,

“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging

Activities.” These statements establish accounting and reporting stand-

ards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded on the

consolidated balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at

its fair value. These statements require that changes in the derivative’s

fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge

accounting criteria are met. USG has determined that the impact of

adopting SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 138 on January 1, 2001, will be

increases in assets and liabilities of $111 million and $6 million, respec-

tively, with the corresponding offset of $105 million reflected in accumu-

lated other comprehensive income.

In 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial

Accounting Standards Board issued EITF 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping

and Handling Revenues and Costs.” This rule became effective in the

fourth quarter of 2000 and requires that all shipping and handling rev-

enues are included in net sales and related costs are included in cost of

sales. USG’s adoption of EITF 00-10 had the impact of increasing 2000

net sales and cost of products sold by $231 million. Accordingly, prior

years’ net sales and cost of products sold were restated to reflect

increases of $210 million for 1999 and $212 million for 1998. Because

each year’s net sales and cost of products sold increased by an equal

amount, there was no impact on operating profit and net earnings.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements related to manage-

ment’s expectations about future conditions. Actual business or other

conditions may differ significantly from management’s expectations and

accordingly affect the Corporation’s sales and profitability or other

results. Actual results may differ due to factors over which the

Corporation has no control, including economic conditions such as con-

struction activity, interest rates and consumer confidence; competitive

conditions such as price and product competition; increases in raw

material and energy costs; euro currency issues such as the ability and

willingness of third parties to convert affected systems in a timely man-

ner and the actions of governmental agencies or other third parties. The

ultimate costs associated with the Corporation’s asbestos litigation may

differ as a result of factors over which the Corporation has little or no

control, including the rate at which new asbestos-related claims are

filed, the cost of claims settlements and verdicts, the impact of recent

and possible future bankruptcies of other defendants and the recent

reductions in the membership of the Center for Claims Resolution and

the other factors described herein. The Corporation assumes no obliga-

tion to update any forward-looking information contained in this report.
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Years Ended December 31

millions, except per share data 2000 1999 1998

Net sales $3,781 $3,810 $3,342

Cost of products sold 2,941 2,742 2,458

Selling and administrative expenses 309 338 299

Provision for asbestos claims 850 – –

Provision for restructuring expenses 50 – –

Operating profit (loss) (369) 730 585

Interest expense 52 53 53

Interest income (5) (10) (5)

Other expense, net 4 3 3

Earnings (loss) before income taxes (420) 684 534

Income taxes (benefit) (161) 263 202

Net earnings (loss) (259) 421 332

Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic (5.62) 8.48 6.81

Diluted (5.62) 8.39 6.61

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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As of December 31

millions, except share data 2000 1999

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 70 $ 197

Receivables (net of reserves of $18 and $18) 305 361

Inventories 271 256

Deferred income taxes 194 80

Other current assets 36 57

Total current assets 876 951

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,830 1,568

Deferred income taxes 257 –

Other assets 251 275

Total assets 3,214 2,794

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 200 172

Accrued expenses 280 303

Taxes on income 19 21

Notes payable 6 16

Current portion of long-term debt 141 –

Current portion of asbestos reserve 250 120

Total current liabilities 896 632

Long-term debt 564 577

Long-term asbestos reserve 935 254

Deferred income taxes – 138

Other liabilities 355 326

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock – $1 par value; authorized 36,000,000 shares;

$1.80 convertible preferred stock (initial series); outstanding – none – –

Common stock – $0.10 par value; authorized 200,000,000 shares; outstanding – 43,401,045 and

48,859,531 shares (after deducting 6,584,177 and 1,125,691 shares held in treasury) 5 5

Treasury stock (256) (56)

Capital received in excess of par value 411 316

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (45) (33)

Retained earnings 349 635

Total stockholders’ equity 464 867

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 3,214 2,794

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended December 31

millions 2000 1999 1998

Operating Activities

Net earnings (loss) $(259) $ 421 $ 332

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Earnings (Loss) to Net Cash

Provision for asbestos claims 850 – –

Provision for restructuring expenses 50 – –

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 96 91 81

Deferred income taxes (365) (42) (2)

(Increase) Decrease in Working Capital

Receivables 55 (4) (52)

Inventories (15) (15) (26)

Payables 15 24 20

Accrued expenses (58) 58 17

(Increase) decrease in other assets (2) (20) 6

Increase in other liabilities 2 121 –

Other, net (5) (3) (2)

Net cash from operating activities 364 631 374

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (380) (426) (309)

Net proceeds from asset dispositions 3 2 2

Acquisition of business, net of acquired cash – (74) –

Net cash to investing activities (377) (498) (307)

Financing Activities

Issuance of debt 197 65 78

Repayment of debt (114) (50) (107)

Short-term borrowings (repayments), net 37 (21) 9

Issuances of common stock – 12 48

Purchases of common stock (207) (72) (10)

Cash dividends paid (27) (22) (5)

Net cash (to) from financing activities (114) (88) 13

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (127) 45 80

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 197 152 72

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 70 197 152

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Interest paid 52 56 56

Income taxes paid 211 281 186

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Capital Accumulated
Common Treasury Received in Retained Other

Shares Shares Common Treasury Excess of Earnings Comprehensive
millions, except share data (000) (000) Stock Stock Par Value (Deficit) Loss Total

Balance at December 31, 1997 46,781 (49) $5 $ – $258 $ (91) $(25) $147

Comprehensive Income

Net earnings 332 332

Foreign currency translation (5) (5)

Total comprehensive income 327

Cash dividends paid (5) (5)

Stock issuances 589 18 18

Warrants exercised 2,455 40 40

Purchases of common stock (225) (10) (10)

Other (53) (22) 1 1

Net change in treasury stock (247)

Balance at December 31, 1998 49,525 (296) 5 (10) 317 236 (30) 518

Comprehensive Income

Net earnings 421 421

Foreign currency translation (3) (3)

Total comprehensive income 418

Cash dividends paid (22) (22)

Stock issuances 164 661 29 (18) 11

Purchases of common stock (1,425) (72) (72)

Other 1 (66) (3) 17 14

Net change in treasury stock (830)

Balance at December 31, 1999 48,860 (1,126) 5 (56) 316 635 (33) 867

Comprehensive Loss

Net loss (259) (259)

Foreign currency translation (12) (12)

Total comprehensive loss (271)

Cash dividends paid (27) (27)

Stock issuances 262 9 (11) (2)

Purchases of common stock (5,656) (207) (207)

Reduction of tax reserves 103 103

Other (1) (64) (2) 3 1

Net change in treasury stock (5,458)

Balance at December 31, 2000 43,401 (6,584) 5 (256) 411 349 (45) 464

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Through its subsidiaries, USG Corporation (“USG” or “the Corporation”) is

a leading manufacturer and distributor of building materials, producing

a wide range of products for use in new residential, new nonresidential

and repair and remodel construction, as well as products used in certain

industrial processes. USG’s operations are organized into three operat-

ing segments: North American Gypsum, which manufactures and mar-

kets SHEETROCK brand gypsum wallboard and related products in the

United States, Canada and Mexico; Worldwide Ceilings, which manufac-

tures and markets ceiling tile, ceiling grid and other interior systems

products worldwide; and Building Products Distribution, which distrib-

utes gypsum wallboard, drywall metal, ceiling products, joint compound

and other building products throughout the United States. USG’s prod-

ucts also are distributed through building materials dealers, home

improvement centers and other retailers, specialty wallboard distributors

and contractors.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the

Corporation and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances

and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires

management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and

assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues

and expenses. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years’ consolidated financial statements and

notes thereto have been reclassified to conform with the 2000 presentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized upon the shipment of products to customers.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net earnings by the

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the

year. The diluted loss per share in 2000 also was computed by dividing

net earnings by the weighted average number of common shares out-

standing during the year. Common stock equivalents are not included in

a diluted loss per share calculation because they have an anti-dilutive

effect. Diluted earnings per share in 1999 and 1998 include the dilutive

effect of the potential exercise of outstanding stock options and, for

1998 warrants, under the treasury stock method.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of comprehensive income (loss) for USG include net

earnings (loss) and foreign currency translation gain or loss adjustments.

There was no tax impact on the foreign currency translation adjustments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with orig-

inal maturities of three months or less.

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities are translated into U.S.

dollars at the exchange rates existing as of the respective balance sheet

dates. Translation adjustments resulting from fluctuations in exchange

rates are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other com-

prehensive income within stockholders’ equity. Income and expense items

are translated at the average exchange rates during the respective periods.

Inventory Valuation

Most of the Corporation’s domestic inventories are valued under the

last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method. The remaining inventories are stated at

the lower of cost or market under the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) or aver-

age production cost methods. Inventories include material, labor and

applicable factory overhead costs.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, except for those assets

that were revalued under fresh start accounting in May 1993. Provisions for

depreciation of property, plant and equipment are determined principally

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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on a straight-line basis over the expected average useful lives of com-

posite asset groups. Estimated useful lives are determined to be 50 years

for buildings and realty improvements and a range of 10 years to 25 years

for machinery and equipment. Depletion is computed on a basis calcu-

lated to spread the cost of gypsum and other applicable resources over

the estimated quantities of material recoverable.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets primarily include property, plant and equipment and

goodwill (the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired). The

Corporation periodically reviews its long-lived assets for impairment by

comparing the carrying value of the assets with their estimated future

undiscounted cash flows. If impairment is determined, the asset is writ-

ten down to estimated net realizable value. Goodwill is amortized on a

straight-line basis over a period of 15 years to 40 years. Goodwill, net of

accumulated amortization, amounted to $120 million and $116 million as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Accumulated amortization of

goodwill as of those dates totaled $9 million and $5 million, respectively.

Goodwill is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Financial Instruments

The Corporation uses derivative instruments to manage well-defined

commodity price, foreign currency and interest rate exposures. The

Corporation does not use derivative instruments for trading purposes.

The criteria used to determine if hedge accounting treatment is appro-

priate are (i) the designation of the hedge to an underlying exposure,

(ii) whether or not overall uncertainty is being reduced and (iii) whether

there is a correlation between the value of the derivative instrument and

the underlying obligation.

Commodity Derivative Instruments: The Corporation uses swap and option

agreements to hedge anticipated purchases of natural gas, wastepaper

and fuel to be used in its manufacturing and shipping operations. These

agreements are designated as hedges and qualify for hedge accounting.

Unrealized gains and losses and option premiums are deferred and

included in net earnings as part of the underlying transaction.

Foreign Exchange Derivative Instruments: The Corporation has oper-

ations in a number of countries and, as a result of intercompany and

third-party transactions, is exposed to changes in foreign currency

exchange rates. To the extent that the exposures are hedged, forward

and/or option contracts are used. Gains and/or losses on these foreign

currency hedges are included in net earnings in the period in which the

exchange rates change.

Interest Rate Derivative Instruments: The Corporation uses interest rate

swap agreements from time to time to manage the impact of interest

rate changes on its underlying floating-rate debt. These agreements 

are designated as hedges and qualify for hedge accounting. Amounts

payable or receivable under these swap agreements are accrued as an

increase or decrease to interest expense on a current basis.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures are charged to earnings as

incurred and amounted to $21 million in the years ended December 31,

2000 and 1999, and $20 million in the year ended December 31, 1998.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation will adopt Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No.

138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging

Activities.” These statements establish accounting and reporting stand-

ards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded on the

consolidated balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at

its fair value. These statements require that changes in the derivative’s

fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge

accounting criteria are met. USG has determined that the impact of

adopting SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 138 on January 1, 2001, will be

increases in assets and liabilities of $111 million and $6 million, respec-

tively, with the corresponding offset of $105 million reflected in accumu-

lated other comprehensive income.

In 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial

Accounting Standards Board issued EITF 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping

and Handling Revenues and Costs.” This rule became effective in the

fourth quarter of 2000 and requires that all shipping and handling rev-

enues are included in net sales and related costs are included in cost of
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sales. USG’s adoption of EITF 00-10 had the impact of increasing 2000

net sales and cost of products sold by $231 million. Accordingly, prior

years’ net sales and cost of products sold were restated to reflect

increases of $210 million for 1999 and $212 million for 1998. Because

each year’s net sales and cost of products sold increased by an equal

amount, there was no impact on operating profit and net earnings.

2. Provision for Restructuring Expenses

In the fourth quarter of 2000, USG recorded a pretax charge of $50 mil-

lion related to a restructuring plan that included a salaried workforce

reduction and the shutdown of three gypsum wallboard manufacturing

lines and other operations. An additional restructuring-related charge of

$4 million was included in cost of products sold for the writedown of

certain inventory. The restructuring, which will be completed in 2001, is

designed to streamline operations and improve business efficiency.

Included in the $50 million charge was $16 million for severance related to

the salaried workforce reduction of over 500 positions, $15 million for the

write-off of property, plant and equipment, $12 million for razing buildings

and equipment, $5 million for line shutdown and removal, and $2 million

for contract cancellations and severance for over 100 hourly positions.

Total payments charged against the restructuring reserve in 2000

amounted to $1 million. All restructuring-related payments are being

funded with cash from normal operations.

3. Shutdown of Plasterco

In the third quarter of 1999, U.S. Gypsum announced the planned shut-

down of its Plasterco, Va., plant. In conjunction with the announcement,

U.S. Gypsum recorded a $22 million charge to cost of products sold for

expenses related to the closing of the plant and adjacent gypsum mine.

The Plasterco facility was closed on December 23, 1999, following the

start-up of U.S. Gypsum’s new plant in Bridgeport, Ala., earlier in the year.

4. Acquisition of Sybex, Inc.

On November 30, 1999, USG acquired Sybex, Inc., the holding company

of Beadex Manufacturing Company, Inc. and The Synkoloid Company of

Canada. Sybex operated joint compound and paper-faced metal corner

bead plants in the United States and Canada.

5. Earnings Per Share

The reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per

share is shown in the following table:

Net Average
Earnings Shares Per Share

millions, except share data (Loss) (000) Amount

2000

Basic loss $(259) 45,972 $(5.62)

Diluted loss (259) 45,972 (5.62)

1999

Basic earnings 421 49,697 8.48

Dilutive effect of stock options 519

Diluted earnings 421 50,216 8.39

1998

Basic earnings 332 48,710 6.81

Dilutive effect of stock options 861

Dilutive effect of stock warrants 613

Diluted earnings 332 50,184 6.61

The diluted loss per share in 2000 was computed using the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Common

stock equivalents were not included in the calculation because they

have an anti-dilutive effect. Including the dilutive effect of stock options,

the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding in 2000

were 46,067,121.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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6. Common Stock

Dividends

USG paid cash dividends of $0.15 per share in each quarter of 2000. In

1999, USG paid cash dividends of $0.10 per share in the first, second and

third quarters, and $0.15 in the fourth quarter. In the first quarter of

2001, USG reduced its quarterly cash dividend to $0.025 per share.

Share Repurchases

Due to uncertainties related to current business conditions and asbestos

litigation, USG does not anticipate making any further repurchases of

common stock at this time. Since the program began in the fourth quar-

ter of 1998, USG purchased a total of 7.3 million shares, completing an

initial 5-million-share authorization and purchasing 2.3 million shares of

an additional 5-million-share authorization. Share repurchases by year

amounted to 5.7 million shares in 2000, 1.4 million shares in 1999 and

0.2 million shares in 1998.

Stockholder Rights Plan

The Corporation’s stockholder rights plan, which will expire on March 27,

2008, has four basic provisions. First, if an acquirer buys 15% or more of

USG’s outstanding common stock, the plan allows other stockholders to

buy, with each right, additional USG shares at a 50% discount. Second,

if USG is acquired in a merger or other business combination transac-

tion, rights holders will be entitled to buy shares of the acquiring com-

pany at a 50% discount. Third, if an acquirer buys between 15% and 50%

of USG’s outstanding common stock, the Corporation can exchange part

or all of the rights of the other holders for shares of the Corporation’s

stock on a one-for-one basis, or shares of a new junior preferred stock

on a one-for-one-hundredth basis. Fourth, before an acquirer buys 15%

or more of USG’s outstanding common stock, the rights are redeemable

for $0.01 per right at the option of the board of directors. This provision

permits the board to enter into an acquisition transaction that is deter-

mined to be in the best interests of stockholders. The board is author-

ized to reduce the 15% threshold to not less than 10%.

Warrants

In 1998, the Corporation received cash proceeds of $40 million from the

exercise of 2,455,383 warrants issued in connection with a financial

restructuring implemented in 1993. Each warrant entitled the holder to

purchase one share of common stock at a purchase price of $16.14 per

share, subject to adjustment under certain events, at any time prior to

the May 6, 1998, expiration date. The proceeds from the exercises were

added to the cash resources of the Corporation and used for general

corporate purposes.

7. Inventories

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the LIFO values of domestic invento-

ries were $197 million and $191 million, respectively, and would have

been $2 million higher for 2000 and $3 million higher for 1999 if they

were valued under the FIFO and average production cost methods. All

nondomestic inventory is valued under FIFO or average production cost

methods.The LIFO value of U.S. domestic inventories exceeded that

computed for U.S. federal income tax purposes by $30 million as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999. Inventory classifications as of December 31

were as follows:

millions 2000 1999

Finished goods and work in progress $175 $164

Raw materials 80 77

Supplies 16 15

Total 271 256

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment classifications as of December 31 were 

as follows:

millions 2000 1999

Land and mineral deposits $ 85 $ 79

Buildings and realty improvements 551 423

Machinery and equipment 1,664 1,439

2,300 1,941

Reserves for depreciation and depletion (470) (373)

Total 1,830 1,568
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9. Leases

The Corporation leases certain of its offices, buildings, machinery and equip-

ment, and autos under noncancelable operating leases. These leases have

various terms and renewal options. Lease expense amounted to $70 million,

$62 million and $59 million in the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999

and 1998, respectively. Future minimum lease payments required under

operating leases with initial or remaining noncancelable terms in excess of

one year as of December 31, 2000, were $49 million in 2001, $43 million

in 2002, $29 million in 2003, $24 million in 2004 and $18 million in

2005. The aggregate obligation subsequent to 2005 was $26 million.

10. Debt

Total debt, including debt maturing within one year, as of December 31

consisted of the following:

millions 2000 1999

Revolving credit facilities $ 79 $ 69

9.25% senior notes due 2001 141 150

Receivables facility due 2003 and 2004 60 80

8.5% senior notes due 2005 150 150

Industrial revenue bonds 255 124

Other 26 20

Total 711 593

Revolving Credit Facilities

On June 30, 2000, USG entered into an agreement with a syndicate of

banks that includes revolving credit facilities totaling $600 million. The

agreement includes a five-year, multicurrency revolving credit facility that

permits the Corporation to borrow up to $400 million, including borrowing

capacity for its Canadian subsidiaries of up to $75 million in equivalent

Canadian dollars. The agreement also includes a $200 million, 364-day

facility. The terms of the agreement include two financial covenants that

require the Corporation to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and

a maximum leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2000, the Corporation was

in compliance with these covenants. These facilities replace a $500 million

revolving credit facility in the United States and a $76 million ($110 million

Canadian) facility in Canada, each scheduled to mature in 2002.

As of December 31, 2000, outstanding loans under the five-year revolving

credit facility totaled $79 million, and letters of credit issued and out-

standing amounted to $16 million. There were no borrowings at year end

under the 364-day facility. This left the Corporation with $505 million of

available credit under these facilities.

The average rate of interest on borrowings under the five-year facility

was 6.5% during the period of July 1, 2000, through December 31, 2000.

The average rates of interest on borrowings under the old U.S. and

Canadian facilities during the period of January 1, 2000 through June 30,

2000, were 6.6% and 5.5%, respectively, and in 1999 were 5.7% and

5.8%, respectively.

See “Note 12. Financial Instruments and Risk Management” for informa-

tion on instruments used by the Corporation to manage the impact of

interest rate changes.

Industrial Revenue Bonds 

Industrial revenue bonds have fixed interest rates ranging from 5.5% to

8.75%. The weighted average rate of interest on the industrial revenue

bonds is 6.0%. The average maturity of these bonds is 30 years.

Other Information

The fair market value of total debt outstanding was $537 million and

$582 million as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The fair mar-

ket values were based on quoted market prices or, where quoted market

prices were not available, on instruments with similar terms and maturities.

Aggregate scheduled maturities of debt during the five years subsequent

to December 31, 2000, are $147 million in 2001, $4 million in 2002,

$25 million in 2003, $46 million in 2004, $229 million in 2005 and 

$260 million thereafter.

11. Financing Arrangements

Accounts Receivable Facility

The Corporation has an accounts receivable facility in which USG Funding

Corporation, a special-purpose subsidiary of the Corporation formed

under Delaware law, entered into agreements with U.S. Gypsum and USG

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Interiors, Inc. These agreements provide that USG Funding purchases

trade receivables (excluding intercompany receivables owed by L&W

Supply Corporation) of U.S. Gypsum and USG Interiors as generated, in a

transaction designed to be a “true sale” under applicable law. USG

Funding is a party to a Master Trust arrangement (the “Master Trust”)

under which the purchased receivables are then transferred to Chase

Manhattan Bank as trustee to be held for the benefit of certificate hold-

ers in such trust. A residual interest in the Master Trust is owned by USG

Funding through subordinated certificates. Under a supplement to the

Master Trust, certificates representing an ownership interest in the Master

Trust of up to $130 million have been issued to Citicorp Securities, Inc.

Pursuant to the applicable reserve and eligibility requirements, the max-

imum amount of debt issuable under the receivables facility as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999 (including $60 million and $80 million out-

standing as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively), was $72 million

and $108 million, respectively. Debt issued under the receivables facility

has a final maturity in 2004 but may be prepaid at any time. The underly-

ing interest rate on this facility is based on A1/P1 commercial paper rates.

Under the foregoing agreements and related documentation, USG

Funding is a separate corporate entity with its own separate creditors

that will be entitled to be satisfied out of USG Funding’s assets prior to

distribution of any value to its shareholder.

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the outstanding balance of receivables

sold to USG Funding and held under the Master Trust was $156 million

and $192 million, respectively, and debt outstanding under the receiv-

ables facility was $60 million and $80 million as of December 31, 2000

and 1999, respectively. Receivables and debt outstanding in connection

with the receivables facility remain in receivables and long-term debt,

respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets.

Shelf Registration

A shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission allows the Corporation to offer from time to time (i) debt

securities (ii) shares of $1.00 par value preferred stock (iii) shares of

$0.10 par value common stock and/or (iv) warrants to purchase shares of

common stock, all having an aggregate initial offering price not to exceed

$300 million. No securities have been issued pursuant to this registration.

12. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

The amounts reported below as fair values represent the market value

as obtained from broker quotations. Any negative fair values are esti-

mates of the amounts USG would need to pay to cancel the contracts or

transfer them to other parties.

Commodity Risk Management

The Corporation uses swap and option agreements to hedge anticipated

purchases of natural gas, wastepaper and fuel to be used in its manu-

facturing and shipping operations. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999,

the Corporation had swap agreements to exchange monthly payments

on notional amounts of commodities amounting to $205 million and 

$53 million, respectively. These agreements mature within five years.

The fair values of these swap agreements as of December 31, 2000 and

1999, were $105 million and zero, respectively.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Corporation had a number of

foreign currency contracts in place (primarily Canadian dollars and

euros) to hedge its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on foreign

currency transactions. These foreign exchange contracts mature on the

anticipated date of the underlying transaction, and all contracts mature

within 12 months. The notional amounts of foreign currency contracts as

of December 31, 2000 and 1999, were $52 million and $41 million,

respectively. The fair value of these contracts as of December 31, 2000

and 1999, was zero.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Corporation uses interest rate swap agreements from time to time

to manage the impact of interest rate changes on the underlying floating-

rate debt. The Corporation’s swap portfolio consists of pay fixed/receive

floating swaps, which effectively convert floating-rate obligations into

fixed-rate instruments. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the

Corporation had swap agreements in place to convert $27 million and

$53 million, respectively, of notional principal from floating-rate to fixed-

rate instruments. The swap agreements in place as of December 31,

2000, matured in February 2001. The fair value of these swap agree-

ments as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, was zero.
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Counterparty Risk

The Corporation is exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperform-

ance by the counterparties on its financial instruments. All counterpar-

ties have investment grade credit standing; accordingly, the Corporation

anticipates that these counterparties will be able to satisfy fully their

obligations under the contracts. The Corporation does not obtain collat-

eral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit

risk but monitors the credit standing of all counterparties.

13. Employee Retirement Plans

The Corporation and most of its subsidiaries have defined benefit pen-

sion plans for all eligible employees. Benefits of the plans are generally

based on employees’ years of service and compensation during the final

years of employment. The Corporation also maintains plans that provide

retiree health care and life insurance benefits for all eligible employees.

Employees generally become eligible for the retiree benefit plans when

they meet minimum retirement age and service requirements. The cost

of providing most retiree health care benefits is shared with retirees. The

components of net pension and postretirement benefit costs are sum-

marized in the following tables:

Pension Benefits

millions 2000 1999 1998

Service cost of benefits earned $ 16 $ 19 $ 14

Interest cost on projected 

benefit obligation 47 43 39

Expected return on plan assets (54) (49) (44)

Net amortization 3 2 1

Net pension cost 12 15 10

Postretirement Benefits

millions 2000 1999 1998

Service cost of benefits earned 6 7 6

Interest cost on projected 

benefit obligation 16 15 14

Net amortization (2) – (1)

Net postretirement cost 20 22 19

The following tables summarize pension and postretirement benefit

obligations, plan assets and funded status as of December 31:

Pension Postretirement

millions 2000 1999 2000 1999

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation as of 

January 1 $632 $633 $ 195 $ 214

Service cost 16 19 6 7

Interest cost 47 43 16 15

Employee contributions 12 9 2 2

Benefits paid (55) (49) (12) (12)

Plan amendment 3 2 (1) (7)

Actuarial (gain) loss 17 (28) 16 (24)

Foreign currency rate change (2) 3 – –

Benefit obligation as of 

December 31 670 632 222 195

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value as of January 1 667 597 – –

Actual return on plan assets 14 97 – –

Employer contributions 17 9 – –

Employee contributions 12 9 – –

Benefits paid (55) (49) – –

Foreign currency rate change (3) 4 – –

Fair value as of December 31 652 667 – –

Funded Status

As of December 31 (18) 35 (222) (195)

Unrecognized prior service cost 6 7 (6) (6)

Unrecognized net (gain) loss (7) (65) (32) (48)

Net balance sheet liability (19) (23) (260) (249)

Assumptions as of December 31

Discount rate 7.50% 7.75% 7.50% 7.75%

Pension plans expected return 9% 9% – –

Compensation increase rate 5% 5% 5% 5%
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The assumed health-care-cost trend rate used to measure the accumu-

lated postretirement benefit obligation will be 7.5% in 2001, with a rate

gradually declining to 4.75% in 2007 and remaining at that level there-

after. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health-care-cost

trend rate would have the following effects:

One Percentage One Percentage
millions Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total service and 

interest cost components $ 4 $ (3)

Effect on postretirement 

benefit obligation 31 (25)

14. Stock-Based Compensation

The Corporation has issued stock options from three successive plans

under its long-term equity program. Under each of the plans, options

were granted at an exercise price equal to the market value on the date

of grant. All options granted under the plans have 10-year terms and

vesting schedules of two or three years. The options expire on the 10th

anniversary of the date of grant, except in the case of retirement, death

or disability, in which case they expire on the earlier of the fifth anniver-

sary of such event or the expiration of the original option term.

The Corporation accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance

with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and discloses such

compensation under the provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-

Based Compensation.”

The fair value of each option grant was estimated as of the date of grant

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted

average assumptions for options granted:

2000 1999 1998

Expected life (years) 7.4 7.4 7.4

Risk-free interest rate 6.2% 6.5% 5.7%

Expected volatility 31.3% 31.4% 30.7%

Dividend yield 1.29% 0.88% –

The weighted average fair value of options granted on January 3, 2000,

was $18.84. The weighted average fair values of options granted on

January 2, 1999, January 2, 1998, and January 19, 1998, were $22.05,

$22.32 and $24.53, respectively.

If the Corporation had elected to recognize compensation cost for stock-

based compensation grants consistent with the method prescribed by

SFAS No. 123, net earnings (loss) and net earnings (loss) per common

share would have changed to the following pro forma amounts:

millions, except per share data 2000 1999 1998

Net Earnings (Loss) As reported $ (259) $ 421 $ 332

Pro forma (262) 416 328

Basic EPS As reported (5.62) 8.48 6.81

Pro forma (5.70) 8.38 6.73

Diluted EPS As reported (5.62) 8.39 6.61

Pro forma (5.70) 8.29 6.54

Stock option activity was as follows:

options in thousands 2000 1999 1998

Options

Outstanding, January 1 1,790 2,034 2,049

Granted 330 316 413

Exercised (22) (553) (388)

Canceled (47) (7) (40)

Outstanding, December 31 2,051 1,790 2,034

Exercisable, December 31 1,437 1,087 1,292

Available for grant, December 31 2,488 566 1,122

Weighted Average Exercise Price

Outstanding, January 1 $36.49 $30.43 $25.54

Granted 46.14 50.87 48.44

Exercised 10.31 22.29 22.72

Canceled 44.79 48.99 40.53

Outstanding, December 31 38.12 36.49 30.43

Exercisable, December 31 33.70 28.05 23.80
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The following table summarizes information about stock options out-

standing as of December 31, 2000:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted 
Average Weighted Weighted

Range of Remaining Average Average
Exercise Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise
Prices (000) Life (yrs.) Price (000) Price

$ 5 –15 135 2.4 $10 135 $10

15 –25 121 3.6 22 121 22

25 –35 799 4.8 32 799 32

35 –55 996 7.9 48 382 48

Total 2,051 6.1 38 1,437 34

As of December 31, 2000, common shares totaling 2,051,025 were

reserved for future issuance in conjunction with existing stock option

grants. In addition, 2,487,720 common shares were reserved for future

grants. Shares issued in option exercises may be from original issue or

available treasury shares.

15. Income Taxes

Earnings (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following:

millions 2000 1999 1998

U.S. $(471) $633 $487

Foreign 51 51 47

Total (420) 684 534

Income taxes (benefit) consisted of the following:

millions 2000 1999 1998

Current

Federal $ 154 $246 $165

Foreign 18 10 12

State 27 47 29

199 303 206

Deferred

Federal (306) (38) (3)

Foreign – 5 (1)

State (54) (7) –

(360) (40) (4)

Total (161) 263 202

Differences between actual provisions (benefits) for income taxes and

provisions (benefits) for income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory rate

(35%) were as follows:

millions 2000 1999 1998

Taxes on income (loss) 

at federal statutory rate $(147) $240 $187

Foreign sales corporation (1) (1) (1)

Foreign earnings subject 

to different tax rates 4 – (1)

State income tax, net of 

federal benefit (17) 26 19

Percentage depletion (4) (4) (3)

Other, net 4 2 1

Provision (benefit) for 

income taxes (161) 263 202

Effective income tax rate 38.4% 38.4% 37.8%

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of

December 31 were as follows:

millions 2000 1999

Deferred Tax Assets

Pension and postretirement benefits $104 $ 93

Reserves not deductible until paid 550 178

Other 34 7

688 278

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 237 189

Net deferred tax assets 451 89

The Corporation’s income tax reserves were reduced by $103 million in

the third quarter of 2000 to reflect the settlement of various tax audits.

The benefit realized from the reduction of these reserves was credited

to equity in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial

Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code.” The

reduction of these reserves had no impact on the results of operations

or cash flows of the Corporation.

The Corporation does not provide for U.S. income taxes on the portion of

undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are intended to be

permanently reinvested. The cumulative amount of such undistributed

earnings totaled approximately $206 million as of December 31, 2000.

These earnings would become taxable in the United States upon the sale

or liquidation of these foreign subsidiaries or upon the remittance of 

dividends. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of the deferred

tax liability on such earnings.

16. Segments

Operating Segments

millions 2000 1999 1998

Net Sales

North American Gypsum $2,298 $2,416 $2,045

Worldwide Ceilings 705 689 695

Building Products Distribution 1,373 1,345 1,103

Eliminations (595) (640) (501)

Total 3,781 3,810 3,342

Operating Profit (Loss)

North American Gypsum 392 651 534

Worldwide Ceilings 70 63 65

Building Products Distribution 110 87 40

Corporate (44) (64) (54)

Eliminations 3 (7) –

Provision for asbestos claims (850) – –

Provision for restructuring expenses (50) – –

Total (369) 730 585

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization

North American Gypsum 70 57 50

Worldwide Ceilings 18 19 18

Building Products Distribution 7 6 5

Corporate 1 9 8

Total 96 91 81

Capital Expenditures

North American Gypsum 354 397 260

Worldwide Ceilings 16 20 39

Building Products Distribution 9 8 9

Corporate 1 1 1

Total 380 426 309
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millions 2000 1999 1998

Assets

North American Gypsum $1,924 $1,721 $1,350

Worldwide Ceilings 433 425 434

Building Products Distribution 278 309 258

Corporate 639 431 392

Eliminations (60) (92) (68)

Total 3,214 2,794 2,366

Geographic Segments

millions 2000 1999 1998

Net Sales

United States $3,428 $3,449 $3,020

Canada 284 262 228

Other Foreign 259 260 269

Geographic transfers (190) (161) (175)

Total 3,781 3,810 3,342

Long-Lived Assets

United States 1,709 1,473 1,094

Canada 188 198 155

Other Foreign 134 102 83

Total 2,031 1,773 1,332

Transactions between operating and geographic segments are accounted

for at transfer prices that are approximately equal to market value.

Intercompany transfers between operating segments (shown above as

Eliminations) largely reflect intercompany sales from U.S. Gypsum to

L&W Supply. No single customer accounted for 10% or more of consoli-

dated net sales. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on

the location of the assets producing the revenues. Export sales to foreign

unaffiliated customers represent less than 10% of consolidated net

sales. Segment operating profit (loss) includes all costs and expenses

directly related to the segment involved and an allocation of expenses

that benefit more than one segment.

Corporate assets include the assets of USG Funding, which represent the

outstanding balances of receivables purchased from U.S. Gypsum and

USG Interiors, net of reserves. As of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,

such receivables, net of reserves, amounted to $93 million, $125 million

and $141 million, respectively, including $59 million, $97 million and

$106 million purchased from U.S. Gypsum and $34 million, $28 million

and $35 million purchased from USG Interiors as of the respective dates.

17. Litigation

Asbestos and Related Insurance Litigation

One of the Corporation’s subsidiaries, U.S. Gypsum (or “the Company”),

is among many defendants in lawsuits arising out of the manufacture

and sale of asbestos-containing materials. U.S. Gypsum sold certain

asbestos-containing products beginning in the 1930s; in most cases, the

products were discontinued or asbestos was removed from the formula

by 1972, and no asbestos-containing products were produced after 1977.

Some of these lawsuits seek to recover compensatory and in many

cases punitive damages for costs associated with the maintenance or

removal and replacement of asbestos-containing products in buildings

(the “Property Damage Cases”). Others seek compensatory and in many

cases punitive damages for personal injury allegedly resulting from

exposure to asbestos-containing products (the “Personal Injury Cases”).

Property Damage Cases: U.S. Gypsum is a defendant in ten Property

Damage Cases, most of which involve multiple buildings. One of the cases

is a conditionally certified class action comprising all colleges and univer-

sities in the United States, which certification is presently limited to the

resolution of certain allegedly “common” liability issues (Central Wesleyan

College v. W.R. Grace & Co., et al., U.S.D.C. S.C.). The Company anticipates

that, as a result of the operation of statutes of limitations and the impact

of certain other factors, few if any additional Property Damage Cases

will be filed. However, if the class action referred to above is decertified,

as sought by the Company, it is likely that some colleges and universities

will file individual Property Damage Cases against U.S. Gypsum. It is likely

that any cases that are filed will seek substantial damages.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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In total, U.S. Gypsum has settled approximately 116 Property Damage

Cases involving 246 plaintiffs, in addition to four class action settle-

ments. Twenty-four cases have been tried to verdict, seventeen of which

were won by U.S. Gypsum and seven of which were lost. Three of the

twenty-four cases, one won at the trial level and two lost, were settled

during appeals. In the cases lost, compensatory damage awards against

U.S. Gypsum totaled $11.5 million. Punitive damages totaling $5.5 million

were entered against U.S. Gypsum in four trials. Two of the punitive

damage awards, totaling $1.45 million, were paid, and two were settled

during the appellate process.

In 2000, no new Property Damage Cases were filed against U.S. Gypsum,

one was settled, and ten were pending at year end. U.S. Gypsum

expended approximately $14 million for the defense and resolution of

Property Damage Cases and received insurance payments of approxi-

mately $21 million in 2000. In 1999, no new Property Damage Cases

were filed against U.S. Gypsum, one case was settled, and eleven were

pending at year end. U.S. Gypsum expended $5 million for the defense

and resolution of Property Damage Cases and received insurance pay-

ments of $24 million. In 1998, two Property Damage Cases were filed

against U.S. Gypsum, two cases were dismissed before trial, four were

settled, and twelve were pending at year end. U.S. Gypsum expended

$29.5 million for the defense and resolution of Property Damage Cases

and received insurance payments of $22 million in 1998 (most of which

consisted of payments for settlements agreed to in the prior year).

U.S. Gypsum’s estimated cost of resolving pending Property Damage

Cases is discussed below (see “Estimated Cost”).

Personal Injury Cases: U.S. Gypsum is also a defendant in approximately

92,000 Personal Injury Cases pending at December 31, 2000, as well 

as an additional approximately 59,000 cases that have been settled but

will be closed over time. Filings of new Personal Injury Cases totaled

approximately 53,000 claims in 2000, compared with 48,000 claims in

1999, 80,000 claims in 1998 and 23,500 claims in 1997. The Company

believes that the higher rate of personal injury case filings in 1998

resulted, at least in part, from a Supreme Court ruling striking down a

class action settlement that included an injunction against the filing of

certain Personal Injury Cases from September 1994 until July 1997. It is

likely that Personal Injury Cases will continue to be filed in substantial

numbers for the foreseeable future, although the percentage of such

cases filed by claimants with little or no physical impairment is expected

to remain high.

U.S. Gypsum’s average settlement cost for Personal Injury Cases has

been increasing. In 2000, U.S. Gypsum (through the Center for Claims

Resolution, discussed below) closed approximately 57,000 claims for an

average settlement of approximately $2,600 per case exclusive of

defense costs. In addition, during 2000, U.S. Gypsum agreed to settle, in

future years, approximately 26,000 claims pending as of December 31,

2000, at approximately $1,475 per claim. See “Estimated Cost” below for

the estimated cost of resolving pending and future asbestos cases to be

filed through 2003.

U.S. Gypsum has been a member, together with fourteen other former

producers of asbestos-containing products, of the Center for Claims

Resolution (the “Center”), which assumed the handling of all Personal

Injury Cases pending against U.S. Gypsum and the other members of the

Center. Since 1988, costs of defense and settlement of Personal Injury

Cases have been shared among the members of the Center pursuant to

predetermined sharing formulae. Effective February 1, 2001, the Center

members, including U.S. Gypsum, will no longer share the costs of set-

tlements entered into after that date, and each Center member, including

U.S. Gypsum, will negotiate and be responsible for paying its own settle-

ments separately. The Center will continue to perform certain claims

administration, negotiation and defense functions for its members, the

costs of which will continue to be shared by 14 of the original Center

members. Other selected defense costs will be borne separately by each

Center member, including U.S. Gypsum. Most of U.S. Gypsum’s personal

injury liability and defense costs have been paid by insurance, but current

and future costs will be paid largely by U.S. Gypsum, due to exhaustion

of most available insurance. In addition, the end of indemnity sharing by

Center members may affect the amounts paid by U.S. Gypsum to resolve

Personal Injury Cases in the future. Plaintiffs’ settlement demands to

separate Center members, including U.S. Gypsum, may be greater than

the members’ historical share of settlement payments when the Center

members shared settlement costs. In addition, it is possible that more

cases will be tried to verdict against U.S. Gypsum than has previously
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been the case and that significant adverse verdicts may occur. In

December 2000, a jury in Miami, Fla., returned a verdict against U.S.

Gypsum in the amount of $14 million in compensatory damages and 

may award additional punitive damages. In February 2001, a jury in

Beaumont, Texas, returned a verdict against U.S. Gypsum and in favor of

22 plaintiffs in the total net amount of $16.6 million in compensatory

damages. No punitive damages were awarded. Damages awarded

against U.S. Gypsum’s co-defendant, Flexitallic, Inc. totaled $18.6 million.

U.S. Gypsum plans to appeal.

U.S. Gypsum and other Center members have negotiated a number of

settlements with plaintiffs’ firms that include agreements to resolve over

time the firms’ pending claims as well as certain future claims. With

regard to future claims, these settlements typically provide that the plain-

tiffs’ firms will recommend to their future clients that they defer filing, or

accept nominal payments on, personal injury claims that do not meet

established disease criteria, and, with regard to those claims meeting

established disease criteria, that the future clients accept specified

amounts to settle those claims. The Center reached several such agree-

ments in 1999 and 2000. These agreements typically resolve claims for

amounts consistent with historical per-claim settlement costs paid to the

plaintiffs’ firms involved. However, settlement costs for cases resolved

outside such agreements have been increasing, reflecting higher settle-

ment demands to all defendants for more serious cases, particularly in

certain jurisdictions, and the bankruptcy of several defendants.

During 2000 and early 2001, several defendants in the Personal Injury

Cases (including one member and one former member of the Center)

filed bankruptcy petitions, and others may file in the future. When such

bankruptcies occur, the bankrupt defendant typically ceases paying

asbestos claims for a period of years. The absence of these defendants

from the litigation is increasing the cost of resolving Personal Injury

Cases for other defendants, including U.S. Gypsum, because plaintiffs

typically (and have recently) increased settlement demands to remaining

solvent defendants to replace the expected payments of now-bankrupt

defendants. Although the projected effect of recent bankruptcy filings

has been considered in estimating the cost of settling pending and

future asbestos cases (see “Estimated Cost,” below), if additional major

defendants were to file for bankruptcy, this likely would have a material

impact on U.S. Gypsum’s settlement costs and may increase the cost

above that estimated below.

During 2000, five members left the Center, three of which are (because

of bankruptcy or insolvency) no longer paying their share of certain set-

tlements agreed to by the Center while they were members. Although in

the past, plaintiffs in such cases have accepted reduced payments from

the remaining Center members consistent with their share of the agreed

settlements, some plaintiffs now argue that the remaining Center mem-

bers are required to fund the entire settlement. Although there are

strong defenses to such claims, there can be no assurance as to the

outcome. In other cases, the plaintiffs have certain rights to nullify the

settlement as to any unpaid portion, and it is possible that such settle-

ments will be jeopardized by the unwillingness of the remaining mem-

bers to fund the absent shares. Such a development would be likely to

increase U.S. Gypsum’s costs of resolving the cases.

During 2000, approximately 53,000 Personal Injury Cases were filed

against U.S. Gypsum, and approximately 57,000 were closed. U.S. Gypsum

incurred expenses of $162 million in 2000 with respect to Personal Injury

Cases, and received approximately $90 million of insurance payments

during that same year. During 1999, approximately 48,000 Personal

Injury Cases were filed against U.S. Gypsum, and approximately 37,000

were settled or dismissed. U.S. Gypsum incurred expenses of $100 million

in 1999 with respect to the settlement and defense of Personal Injury

Cases, of which approximately $85 million was paid by insurance. During

1998, approximately 80,000 Personal Injury Cases were filed against

U.S. Gypsum, and 21,000 were settled or dismissed. U.S. Gypsum

incurred expenses of $61.1 million in 1998 with respect to the resolution

and defense of Personal Injury Cases, of which $45.5 million was paid

by insurance.

U.S. Gypsum’s estimated cost of resolving Personal Injury Cases is 

discussed below (see “Estimated Cost”).

Insurance Coverage: U.S. Gypsum sued its insurance carriers in 1983 to

obtain coverage for asbestos cases (the “Coverage Action”) and has set-

tled all disputes with its solvent carriers. As of December 31, 2000, after

deducting insurance paid out to date, and taking into account recent

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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settlements, approximately $86 million of insurance remained with 

four carriers, all of which have agreed, subject to certain limitations and

conditions, to cover asbestos-related costs.

Four of U.S. Gypsum’s domestic insurance carriers, as well as under-

writers of portions of various policies issued by Lloyds and other London

market companies, providing a total of approximately $106 million of

coverage, are insolvent. Because these policies would already have been

consumed by U.S. Gypsum’s asbestos expenses to date if the carriers

had been solvent, the insolvencies will not adversely affect U.S. Gypsum’s

coverage for future asbestos-related costs. However, U.S. Gypsum is

pursuing claims for reimbursement from the insolvent estates and other

sources and expects to recover a presently indeterminable portion of the

policy amounts from these sources. The amount of insurance remaining

has increased due to increases in the distributions from the estate of an

insolvent carrier.

U.S. Gypsum’s total asbestos-related payments, net of insurance

recoveries, was $62 million in 2000 and $24 million in 1998. Insurance

payments to U.S. Gypsum for asbestos-related matters exceeded

asbestos-related expenses by $6 million for 1999 due primarily to non-

recurring reimbursement for amounts expended in prior years.

Estimated Cost: The asbestos litigation involves numerous uncertainties

that make it difficult to estimate reliably U.S. Gypsum’s probable liability

in the Personal Injury and Property Damage Cases.

In the Property Damage Cases, such uncertainties include, but may not

be limited to, the identification and volume of asbestos-containing prod-

ucts in the buildings at issue in each case, which is often disputed; the

claimed damages associated therewith; the viability of statute of limita-

tions, product identification and other defenses, which varies depending

upon the facts and jurisdiction of each case; the amount for which such

cases can be resolved, which normally (but not uniformly) has been sub-

stantially lower than the claimed damages; and the viability of claims for

punitive and other forms of multiple damages.

Uncertainties in the Personal Injury Cases include, but may not be limited

to, the number, disease and occupational characteristics, and venue of

Personal Injury Cases that are filed against U.S. Gypsum; the age and level

of physical impairment of claimants; the viability of claims for conspiracy

or punitive damages; the elimination of indemnity sharing among Center

members for future settlements and its impact on U.S. Gypsum’s ability to

continue to resolve claims at historical or acceptable levels; the continued

solvency of other defendants; the inability or refusal of former Center

members to fund their share of existing settlements and its effect on such

settlement agreements; the continued ability to negotiate settlements or

develop other mechanisms that defer or reduce claims from unimpaired

claimants; and the possibility that federal legislation addressing asbestos

litigation will be enacted. In addition, additional bankruptcies of major

defendants likely would have a material impact on U.S. Gypsum’s settle-

ment costs and may increase the cost above that estimated below.

As a result, any estimate of U.S. Gypsum’s liability, while based upon 

the information currently available, may not be an accurate prediction of

actual costs and is subject to revision as additional information becomes

available and developments occur, and U.S. Gypsum’s liability may be

materially different from its current estimate.

The Corporation has in the past, in the opinion of management, been

unable to reasonably estimate the probable cost of resolving future

asbestos claims, although the Corporation has estimated and reserved

for costs associated with then-pending claims. However, in 1999 and

increasingly in 2000, the Center entered into a number of long-term,

broad-based settlements with plaintiffs’ law firms that provide, in addi-

tion to settlements of pending claims brought by such firms, that the

Center would have certain rights relating to settlement of future claims

brought by such firms. Generally, under these long-term settlements,

these plaintiffs’ firms agree to recommend to their future clients that

they settle their claims against Center members consistent with speci-

fied amounts, depending upon the application of disease criteria.

Concurrent with the increase in the number of these long-term settle-

ments, the Corporation undertook a detailed study of U.S. Gypsum’s cur-

rent and potential future asbestos liability. This analysis was completed

in the fourth quarter of 2000. As part of this analysis, the Corporation

reviewed, among other things, historical case filings and increasing 

settlement costs; the type of products sold by U.S. Gypsum and the
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occupations of claimants expected to bring future asbestos-related

claims; epidemiological data concerning the incidence of past and 

projected future asbestos-related diseases; trends in the propensity of

persons alleging asbestos-related disease to sue U.S. Gypsum; the

adverse effect on settlement costs of historical reductions in the num-

ber of solvent defendants available to pay claims, including reductions

in membership of the Center; the pre-agreed settlement recommenda-

tions in, and the continued viability of, the long-term settlement agree-

ments described above; and anticipated trends in recruitment by

plaintiffs’ firms of non-malignant or unimpaired claimants. The study

attempted to weigh relevant variables and assess the impact of likely

outcomes on future case filings and settlement costs. In addition, the

Corporation considered future defense costs, as well as allegations that

U.S. Gypsum and the other Center members bear joint liability for the

share of certain settlement agreements that was to be paid by former

members that now have refused or are unable to pay.

Although substantial uncertainty remains, the Corporation believes it is

now possible to provide a reasonable estimate of U.S. Gypsum’s liability

for asbestos cases to be filed through 2003 as well as those currently

pending. The Corporation believes that it is probable that asbestos

claims currently pending against U.S. Gypsum and future asbestos

claims to be filed against it through 2003 (both property damage and

personal injury) can be resolved for an amount between $889 million

and $1,281 million, including defense costs, and that within this range

the most likely estimate is $1,185 million. However, these amounts are

expected to be expended over a period extending several years beyond

2003, because asbestos cases have historically been resolved an aver-

age of three years after filing. The above amounts are stated before tax

benefit and are not discounted to present value.

Although the Corporation estimates the probable liability for asbestos

claims to be filed against U.S. Gypsum through 2003 to be in the range

set forth above, it is also possible that the cost of resolving claims will

be greater than that set forth in this range, which would require an addi-

tional charge to results of operations. Further, with regard to asbestos

claims that may be filed after 2003, the Corporation does not believe that

adequate information currently exists to allow it to reasonably estimate

the number of claims to be filed beyond 2003, or the liability associated

with such claims. However, claims will continue to be asserted after

2003, and it is probable that prior to the end of 2003 the Corporation will

be able to reasonably estimate costs associated with claims to be filed

after 2003 and will charge results of operations for such costs.

The Corporation has attempted to evaluate and weigh all relevant factors

in estimating U.S. Gypsum’s liability. However, the Corporation cautions

that liability in asbestos cases is difficult to predict and involves many

subjective judgments that can be affected by the uncertainties identified

above, as well as other presently unanticipated factors that may arise.

Many of these factors, including but not limited to bankruptcies of 

co-defendants, are outside U.S. Gypsum’s control. As a result, it is rea-

sonably possible that actual costs may differ from the estimate set forth

above and that this difference may be material.

Accounting for Asbestos Liability: As stated above, as of December 31,

2000, the Corporation estimated U.S. Gypsum’s probable liability for

asbestos costs associated with cases currently pending and expected to

be filed through 2003 to be between $889 million and $1,281 million.

U.S. Gypsum has reserved $1,185 million as the amount it believes to be

the most likely estimate within that range. These amounts are stated

before tax benefit and are not discounted to present value. In order to

establish this reserve, a noncash, pretax charge to results of operations

of $850 million was taken in the fourth quarter and added to existing

asbestos-related reserves totaling $335 million as of December 31,

2000, which primarily related to pending claims. U.S. Gypsum had a cor-

responding receivable from insurance carriers of $86 million as of

December 31, 2000, the estimated portion of the reserved amount that

is expected to be paid or reimbursed by insurance.

The Corporation intends to monitor asbestos-related costs and trends

and, as noted above, it is reasonably possible that they may differ from

the Corporation’s current estimates and that any such difference may be

material. In addition, asbestos claims will continue to be asserted after

2003, and it is probable that subsequent information will allow the

Corporation to estimate the costs associated with those cases. When

such events occur, additional charges to results of operations will be

necessary in amounts that cannot presently be reasonably estimated,

but which are likely to be material to the period in which they are taken.
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Conclusion: Recent asbestos costs and charges, combined with declines 

in operating results, have adversely affected the Corporation’s access to

capital, results of operations and financial position, but the Corporation

currently believes that it has sufficient cash flow and other capital

resources to meet its obligations and maintain its operations. However,

while the Corporation’s estimate of the cost of the asbestos litigation is

based on the information currently available, the impact of the asbestos

litigation on the Corporation may be affected by the numerous factors

identified above, including but not limited to bankruptcies of other defen-

dants, as well as other factors that may arise in the future. If asbestos-

related costs materially exceed the Corporation’s estimates or its cash

flow and capital resources fall materially below current expectations,

it is likely that the asbestos litigation would have a material adverse

impact on the Corporation’s results, liquidity and financial position.

Environmental Litigation

The Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries have been notified by 

state and federal environmental protection agencies of possible involve-

ment as one of numerous “potentially responsible parties” in a number

of so-called “Superfund” sites in the United States. In most of these

sites, the involvement of the Corporation or its subsidiaries is expected

to be minimal. The Corporation believes that appropriate reserves have

been established for its potential liability in connection with all Superfund

sites but is continuing to review its accruals as additional information

becomes available. Such reserves take into account all known or esti-

mated costs associated with these sites, including site investigations

and feasibility costs, site cleanup and remediation, legal costs and fines

and penalties, if any. In addition, environmental costs connected with

site cleanups on USG-owned property also are covered by reserves

established in accordance with the foregoing. The Corporation believes

that neither these matters nor any other known governmental proceeding

regarding environmental matters will have a material adverse effect

upon its results of operations or financial position.
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Management of USG Corporation is responsible for the preparation,

integrity and fair presentation of the financial information included in 

this report. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and

necessarily include certain amounts that are based on management’s

estimates and judgment.

Management is responsible for maintaining a system of internal

accounting controls to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity

and reliability of the financial statements, the proper safeguarding and

use of assets and the accurate execution and recording of transactions.

Such controls are based on established policies and procedures and are

implemented by trained personnel. The system of internal accounting

controls is monitored by the Corporation’s internal auditors to confirm

that the system is proper and operating effectively. The Corporation’s

policies and procedures prescribe that the Corporation and its sub-

sidiaries are to maintain ethical standards and that its business prac-

tices are to be consistent with those standards.

The Corporation’s financial statements have been audited by Arthur

Andersen LLP, independent public accountants. Their audit was con-

ducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the

United States and included consideration of the Corporation’s internal

control system. Management has made available to Arthur Andersen LLP

all the Corporation’s financial records and related data, as well as 

minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors. Management believes

that all representations made to Arthur Andersen LLP were valid 

and appropriate.

The Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee composed

entirely of nonemployee directors, provides oversight to the financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee meets periodically with man-

agement, the internal auditors and Arthur Andersen LLP, jointly and 

separately, to review accounting, auditing, internal control and financial

reporting matters. Both Arthur Andersen LLP and the internal auditors

have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

William C. Foote

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

Richard H. Fleming

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Raymond T. Belz

Senior Vice President and Controller

Report of Management
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of USG Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 

USG Corporation (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements

of earnings, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for the years ended

December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. These consolidated financial state-

ments are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally

accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-

sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 

above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

USG Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,

and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years

ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, in conformity with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Chicago, Illinois

January 24, 2001

Report of Independent Public Accountants
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth Total
millions, except per share data Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2000

Net sales $989 $995 $ 956 $841 $3,781

Operating profit (loss) 184 165 122 (840)(a) (369)(a)

Net earnings (loss) 106 93 65 (523)(a) (259)(a)

Per Common Share

Net earnings (loss)(b) – basic 2.19 2.06 1.48 (12.05) (5.62)

– diluted 2.18 2.04 1.48 (12.05) (5.62)

Price range(c) – high 48.000 45.563 33.563 25.500 48.000

– low 30.750 30.359 24.625 13.125 13.125

Cash dividends paid 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.60

1999

Net sales 873 949 1,006 982 3,810

Operating profit 154 183 198 195 730

Net earnings 86 104 116 115 421

Per Common Share

Net earnings(b) – basic 1.73 2.09 2.34 2.34 8.48

– diluted 1.71 2.07 2.32 2.32 8.39

Price range(c) – high 58.375 64.500 60.750 52.375 64.500

– low 44.750 51.438 46.438 41.125 41.125

Cash dividends paid 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.15 0.45

(a) Includes provisions of $850 million pretax ($524 million after-tax) for asbestos claims, $50 million pretax ($31 million after-tax) for restructuring expenses and $4 million pretax 
($2 million after-tax) for the writedown of certain inventory.

(b) Basic earnings per share are calculated using weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted losses per share in the fourth quarter and full year 2000
also were calculated using weighted average common shares outstanding during the periods. Common stock equivalents were not included in these calculations because they
have an anti-dilutive effect. For all other periods, diluted earnings per share were calculated using weighted average common shares and common stock equivalents outstanding
during the period. The sum of the four quarters is not necessarily the same as the total for the year.

(c) Stock price ranges are for transactions on the New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol USG), which is the principal market for these securities. Stockholders of record as of
January 31, 2001: Common – 4,314; Preferred – none.
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Years Ended December 31

dollars in millions, except per share data 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Earnings Statement Data

Net sales $3,781 $3,810 $3,342 $3,066 $2,764

Cost of products sold 2,941 2,742 2,458 2,279 2,119

Selling and administrative expenses 309 338 299 281 268

Provision for asbestos claims 850 – – – –

Provision for restructuring expenses 50 – – – –

Amortization of excess reorganization value(a) – – – 127 169

Operating profit (loss) (369) 730 585 379 208

Interest expense 52 53 53 60 75

Interest income (5) (10) (5) (3) (2)

Other expense, net 4 3 3 2 3

Income taxes (benefit) (161) 263 202 172 117

Net earnings (loss) (259) 421 332 148 15

Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic (5.62) 8.48 6.81 3.19 0.32

Diluted(b) (5.62) 8.39 6.61 3.03 0.31

Balance Sheet Data (as of the end of the period)

Working capital (20) 319 410 199 150

Current ratio 0.98 1.50 1.79 1.43 1.37

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,830 1,568 1,214 982 887

Total assets 3,214 2,794 2,366 1,926 1,864

Total debt 711 593 596 620 772

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 464 867 518 147 (23)

Other Information

Capital expenditures 380 426 309 172 120

Stock price (per common share)(c) 22.50 47.13 50.94 49.00 33.88

Cash dividends paid (per common share) 0.60 0.45 0.10 – –

Average number of employees 14,900 14,300 13,700 13,000 12,500

(a) Excess reorganization value was established in connection with a financial restructuring in May 1993 and was subsequently amortized through September 30, 1997.

(b) Basic earnings per share are calculated using weighted average common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted losses per share in 2000 also were calculated using 
weighted average common shares outstanding during the year. Common stock equivalents were not included in this calculation because they have an anti-dilutive effect.
For all other years, diluted earnings per share were calculated using weighted average common shares and common stock equivalents outstanding during the year.

(c) Stock price per common share reflects the final closing price of the year.
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Robert L. Barnett (3, 5, 6*)

President,

Commercial, Governmental 

and Industrial Solutions Sector,

Motorola Corporation

Keith A. Brown (3, 4, 5*, 6)

President,

Chimera Corporation

James C. Cotting (1, 4*, 5, 6)

Former Chairman,

Navistar International Corporation

Lawrence M. Crutcher (4, 6)

Managing Director,

Veronis Suhler

William C. Foote (1*)

Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer 

and President

W. Douglas Ford (1, 2, 5, 6)

Chief Executive,

Refining and Marketing,

BP Amoco P.L.C.

David W. Fox (1, 2*, 4, 5)

Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer,

Northern Trust Corporation and 

The Northern Trust Company

Valerie B. Jarrett (2, 5, 6)

Executive Vice President,

The Habitat Company

Marvin E. Lesser (3, 4, 5)

Managing Partner,

Sigma Partners, L.P.

John B. Schwemm (1, 2, 3, 5)

Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer,

R.R. Donnelley & Sons Company

Judith A. Sprieser (2, 3*, 4)

Chief Executive Officer,

Transora, Inc.

Committees of the Board of Directors

1 Executive Committee
2 Compensation and Organization

Committee
3 Audit Committee
4 Finance Committee
5 Committee on Directors
6 Corporate Affairs Committee
* Denotes Chair

William C. Foote

Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer 

and President

Richard H. Fleming

Executive Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer

Raymond T. Belz

Senior Vice President 

and Controller

Edward M. Bosowski

Senior Vice President,

Marketing and 

Corporate Strategy; 

President, International

John H. Meister

Senior Vice President; 

President, Building Systems

James S. Metcalf

Senior Vice President; 

President and Chief Executive

Officer, L&W Supply Corporation

Daniel J. Nootens

Senior Vice President and

Chief Technology Officer

Brian W. Burrows 

Vice President,

Research and Technology

Brian J. Cook

Vice President,

Human Resources

Board of Directors Corporate Officers

Stanley L. Ferguson

Vice President 

and General Counsel

Jean K. Holley

Vice President and 

Chief Information Officer

Marcia S. Kaminsky

Vice President,

Communications

D. Rick Lowes

Vice President and Treasurer

Peter K. Maitland

Vice President,

Compensation, Benefits 

and Administration

Robert B. Sirgant

Vice President,

Corporate Customer Relations

Dean H. Goossen

Corporate Secretary

A note of thanks:

In 2000, P. Jack O’Bryan 

and Arthur G. Leisten retired.

Their years of commitment,

dedication and leadership are

greatly appreciated.



Annual Report on Form 10-K

A copy of the Corporation’s annual report 

on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities 

and Exchange Commission for 2000, can be

obtained without charge by writing to:

Investor Relations

USG Corporation, Department 161-2

P.O. Box 6721

Chicago, IL 60680-6721

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The 2001 annual meeting of stockholders of 

USG Corporation will be held at 9:15 a.m.,

Wednesday, May 9, in the sixth floor auditorium

of The Northern Trust Company Building,

50 South LaSalle Street, Chicago. A formal

notice of the meeting and proxy material will 

be sent to stockholders on or about April 6, 2001.

Interim Reports to Stockholders

USG Corporation prepares a quarterly report 

to stockholders that provides a quarterly update

on financial and operational performance and

strategic direction. If you wish to receive the

quarterly report, please send notification, includ-

ing your name and address, to the Investor

Relations Department at the above address.

In addition, stockholders may obtain financial

reports, including the aforementioned report,

and other information from the USG home page

on the World Wide Web. The address is:

www.usg.com.

General Offices

Mailing Address:

P.O. Box 6721

Chicago, IL 60680-6721

Street Address:

125 South Franklin Street

Chicago, IL 60606-4678

Telephone:

312-606-4000

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 1689

Chicago, IL 60690-1689

312-588-4991

Stock Listings

USG Corporation common stock is listed on 

the New York and Chicago stock exchanges 

and is traded under the symbol USG.

Inquiries

Investment Community:

Investor Relations

312-606-4125

News Media:

Corporate Communications

312-606-4356

The following trademarks used herein are owned 

by USG Corporation or its subsidiaries:

ACOUSTONE, AURATONE, CENTRICITEE, COMPÄSSO,

CURVATURA, DIAMOND, DONN, DUROCK, DX, FIBEROCK,

FINELINE, HYDROCAL, IMPERIAL, SHEETROCK,

ULTRAWALL, USG.

Copyright 2001, USG Corporation

Printed on Recycled Paper

Design: Petrick Design, Chicago

Photography: Tom Maday Photography

Shareholder Information
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